
 
 
 
 

Audit & Standards Committee 
 
 

Date: 24 January 2023 

Time: 4.00pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 

Members: Councillors Wilkinson (Chair), Hugh-Jones (Group 
Spokesperson), Atkinson, Meadows, Shanks, Simson, West 
and Yates 

 Independent Persons: Helen Aston and David Bradly 

 

Contact: John Peel 

Democratic Services Officer 
01273 291058 
john.peel@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 

Electronic agendas can also be accessed through our meetings app available through 
ModernGov: iOS/Windows/Android 

 
This agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 

 
Date of Publication - Monday, 16 January 2023 

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/modgov/9nblggh0c7s7#activetab=pivot:overviewtab
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB


AGENDA 
 
Part One Page 
 

30 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

 (a) Declarations of Substitutes:  Where councillors are unable to 
attend a meeting, a substitute Member from the same political 
group may attend, speak and vote in their place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest:   
 

(a) Disclosable pecuniary interests; 
(b) Any other interests required to be registered under the local 

code; 
(c) Any other general interest as a result of which a decision on 

the matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting you or a 
partner more than a majority of other people or businesses in 
the ward/s affected by the decision. 

 
In each case, you need to declare  
(i) the item on the agenda the interest relates to; 
(ii) the nature of the interest; and 
(iii) whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest or some other 

interest. 
 
If unsure, Members should seek advice from the committee lawyer 
or administrator preferably before the meeting. 

 
(c) Exclusion of Press and Public:  To consider whether, in view of 

the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
Note: Any item appearing in Part Two of the agenda states in its 

heading the category under which the information disclosed 
in the report is exempt from disclosure and therefore not 
available to the press and public. A list and description of 
the exempt categories is available for public inspection at 
Brighton and Hove Town Halls and on-line in the 
Constitution at part 7.1. 

 

 

31 MINUTES 7 - 14 

 To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2022  

 Contact Officer: John Peel Tel: 01273 291058  
 

32 CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS  

 
 
 
 



33 CALL OVER  

 (a) Items 36 - 40 will be read out at the meeting and Members invited 
to reserve the items for consideration.   

 

(b) Those items not reserved will be taken as having been received 
and the reports’ recommendations agreed.  

 

 

34 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by members of the public: 
 
(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions presented to the full council or at 

the meeting itself; 
 

(b) Written Questions: to receive any questions submitted by the due 
date of 12 noon on the 18 January 2023; 
 

(c) Deputations: to receive any deputations submitted by the due 
date of 12 noon on the 18 January 2023. 

 

 

35 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by councillors: 
 
(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions submitted to the full Council or 

at the meeting itself; 
 
(b) Written Questions: to consider any written questions; 
 
(c) Letters: to consider any letters; 
 
(d) Notices of Motion: to consider any Notices of Motion referred 

from Council or submitted directly to the Committee. 

 

 

36 FORMAL APPROVAL OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 
2022/23 

15 - 42 

 Report of the Executive Director, Governance, People & Resources  

 Contact Officer: Luke Hamblin Tel: 01273 291496  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

37 INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL ASSESSMENT OF ORBIS INTERNAL 
AUDIT 

43 - 64 

 Report of the Executive Director, Governance, People & Resources  

 Contact Officer: Carolyn Sheehan   
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 
 
 
 



38 EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 65 - 102 

 Report of External Audit  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

39 MEMBER ALLOWANCES UPDATE 103 - 108 

 Report of the Executive Director, Governance, People & Resources  

 Contact Officer: Abraham Ghebre-Ghiorghis Tel: 01273 291500  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

40 ANNUAL REVIEW OF STANDARDS-RELATED MATTERS, 
INCLUDING MEMBER COMPLAINTS 

109 - 126 

 Report of the Executive Director, Governance, People & Resources  

 Contact Officer: Victoria Simpson Tel: 01273 294687  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

41 ITEMS REFERRED FOR COUNCIL  

 To consider items to be submitted to the 2 February 2023 Council 
meeting for information. 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 24.3a, the Committee may determine 
that any item is to be included in its report to Council. In addition, 
any Group may specify one further item to be included by notifying the 
Chief Executive no later than 10am on the eighth working day before the 
Council meeting at which the report is to be made, or if the Committee 
meeting take place after this deadline, immediately at the conclusion of 
the Committee meeting 

 

 

42 ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING  

 
 
 
 



 
 
The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made 
on the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be 
raised can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fourth working day before the meeting. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
Infra-red hearing aids are available for use during the meeting. If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the receptionist on arrival. 
 
Further information 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact John Peel, (01273 
291058, email john.peel@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email democratic.services@brighton-
hove.gov.uk  
 
Webcasting notice 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website.  At 
the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.  
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act 
1998.  Data collected during this web cast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy. 
 
Therefore, by entering the meeting room and using the seats in the chamber you are 
deemed to be consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings for the purpose of web casting and/or Member training.  If members of the 
public do not wish to have their image captured, they should sit in the public gallery area. 
 
Access notice 
The Public Gallery is situated on the first floor of the Town Hall and is limited in size but 
does have 2 spaces designated for wheelchair users.  The lift cannot be used in an 
emergency.  Evac Chairs are available for self-transfer and you are requested to inform 
Reception prior to going up to the Public Gallery.  For your own safety please do not go 
beyond the Ground Floor if you are unable to use the stairs. 
Please inform staff on Reception of this affects you so that you can be directed to the 
Council Chamber where you can watch the meeting or if you need to take part in the 
proceedings e.g. because you have submitted a public question.Fire & emergency 
evacuation procedure 
If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by council 
staff.  It is vital that you follow their instructions: 

 You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts; 

 Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

 Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further instructions; and 

 Do not re-enter the building until told that it is safe to do so 
 
 

     

mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk


     
 



 
 

Brighton & Hove City Council 
 

Audit & Standards Committee 
 

4.00pm 29 November 2022 
 

Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 
 

Minutes 
 

Present: Councillor Wilkinson (Chair) Hugh-Jones (Group Spokesperson), Atkinson, 
Meadows, Shanks, West and Yates 
 
Independent Persons present: Helen Aston 

 
 

Part One 
 
 

16 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 
 
16a Declarations of substitutes 
 
16.1 There were none.  
 
16b Declarations of interests 
 
16.2 Helen Aston declared a pecuniary interest as a member of the Executive Board of the 

Pensions Regulator and would not take part in any matters relating to those issues.  
 
16c Exclusion of the press and public 
 
16.3 In accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 (“the Act”), the 

Committee considered whether the public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item of business on the grounds that it is likely in view of the 
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present during it, there would be disclosure to them of confidential information as 
defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act. 

 
16.4 Resolved - That the press and public not be excluded. 
 
17 MINUTES 
 
17.1 Resolved – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 28 June 2022 be 

approved as the correct record. 
 
18 CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
18.1 The Chair provided the following communications:  

 

7



 

 
 

AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 29 NOVEMBER 
2022 

“I wish to begin by paying tribute to the late Cllr Garry Peltzer Dunn who sat on this 
committee. Since becoming a councillor in 2019 I quickly came to realise what a true 
gentleman Garry was and a shining example of how to conduct oneself as a public 
servant. He treated councillors of all parties and none, officers and residents alike with 
respect and courtesy, and he worked tirelessly for his local residents and in service of the 
city for half a century. This committee and the council will certainly miss him. 
Garry regularly showed how to debate agreeably with colleagues both inside this chamber 
and on that point I would like to remind members that the role of the Audit & Standards 
Committee is different from that of a policy Committee. Our focus is on proper governance, 
transparency and financial accountability. We should therefore focus on the facts as 
presented before us and avoid unnecessary, highly political or over- personalised rhetoric.  
In hoping everybody will agree that this is the proper way to proceed, I wish to 
acknowledge the contribution made by all members of this committee in carrying out its 
key governance role at this time of continued pressures and challenges, and the demands 
that that places on us all”. 

 
19 CALL OVER 
 
19.1 The following items on the agenda were reserved for discussion: 

 
- Item 23: Audited Statement of Accounts 2021-22 
- Item 24: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Quarter 1 Progress Report 2022/23 
- Item 25: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Quarter 2 Progress Report 2022/23 
- Item 27: Standards Update 
 

19.2 The Democratic Services Officer confirmed that the items listed above had been reserved 
for discussion and that the following reports on the agenda with the recommendations 
therein had been approved and adopted: 
 
- Item 22: Audit Findings Report 2021-22 
- Item 26: Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy Framework 2022-24 

 
20 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 

No items were received from members of the public.  
 
21 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT 
 
(b)      Written Questions 
 
(1) Meetings held by the Chair 
 
21.1 Councillor Meadows read the following question: 

 
“It has been reported in the press that on Tuesday 30th of August you held a meeting with 
a local group that provided you with evidence of further irregularities of Councillor 
expenses. 
It has been further reported that following this, a preliminary investigation has been 
commenced into the matters raised. 

8



 

 
 

AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 29 NOVEMBER 
2022 

Can you provide the Committee with an update on this matter, your meeting(s) with this 
residents’ group and this investigation?” 
 

21.2 The Chair provided the following reply: 
 
“I can confirm that I did meet with the Friends of Brighton and Hove Citizens Action Group 
to discuss their request for an urgent audit of claims made by Cllr Tom Druitt relating to 
the Dependant Carer’s Allowance. 
The complaint centred on a conflict between Social Media comments where Cllr Druitt 
stated that he had not made claims in relation to childcare allowances, and the published 
records of member expenses for 2018/19 and 2019/20, which included four claims for 
Dependant Carer’s Allowances from Cllr Druitt for four meetings attended between 
January and June 2019.  
Having noted this apparent conflict, I asked senior officers to review the concerns raised 
and to report back to me, which they have now done. The Friends Action Group has now 
received a detailed account of the enquiries carried out by the Assistant Director of Legal 
& Democratic Services and her findings in order to provide reassurance that the 
information they supplied has been considered properly.  
I can confirm that enquiries indicated that child care allowances were claimed and paid to 
Cllr Druitt in respect of the four meetings mentioned above. The total cost of the 
allowances paid was £111.54.  
The Member Allowance Scheme provides that Councillors may make claims pursuant to 
the council’s Dependent Carer Allowance for attendance at council meetings and for 
council duties up to a maximum of £9 per hour for each child. A total of one hour of 
travelling time can be added to the claim where applicable to allow the councillor to travel 
to and from meetings, provided the child remains with the carer for the duration.  
The review has found that the correct forms were received and checked by Democratic 
Services in relation to the meetings attended by Cllr Druitt. The claims related to Council 
meetings which Cllr Druitt did attend, and which it was legitimate for Cllr Druitt to claim a 
dependant carers allowances for.  
Councillor Druitt has indicated that he did state on social media that he had never claimed 
child care expenses. He has stated that at the time he made the comments, he believed 
them to be true. As soon as he reviewed the claims in his name, he removed his 
comments from Facebook. He also took a decision to repay the allowances. He repaid 
£116 in March 2022 although there was no requirement for him to do so given that the 
claims related to legitimate allowances paid for attendance at meetings he did attend in 
accordance with the Council’s Allowances Scheme.  
I’m going to finish my response by quoting from the review letter which has been 
forwarded to the Friends Group, which I think is worth reading out to give maximum 
reassurance:  
 
‘The fact that the Social Media posts were not accurate has not impacted on the validity 
of the claims that were made, no fraud has been committed and no payment has been 
made to Cllr Druitt in error. The expenses were claimed for legitimate Council business 
and paid under the Dependant Carers Allowance Scheme’.   
 
The letter concludes by saying:  
 

9



 

 
 

AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 29 NOVEMBER 
2022 

‘Following the Audit investigation, further steps have been agreed in relation to the 
processing arrangements for Councillor Allowances and a follow up report is being 
brought to the January 2023 Audit & Standards Committee. 
There is no evidence of any incorrect claim having been made by Cllr Druitt therefore no 
further action is proposed.’ 
 
In conclusion, having reviewed the information supplied to me and considered the 
outcome of the enquiry into the concerns of the Group carried out by the Assistant Director 
of Legal & Democratic Services, I have taken the view that no further action is necessary. 
I’d like to thank the Friends of Brighton and Hove Citizens Action Group for their time & 
trouble and to confirm that they have been advised of this outcome by email”.   
 

21.3 Councillor Meadows put the following supplementary question: 
 
“Can we confirm who signed and submitted those claim forms on behalf of Councillor 
Druitt and is this a practice we need to be aware of at Standards Committee?” 
 

21.4 The Chair provided the following reply: 
 
“I can confirm as I said earlier that the correct forms were received and checked by 
Democratic Services in relation to the meetings attended by Councillor Druitt. The claims 
related to Council meetings which Cllr Druitt did attend, and which it was legitimate for Cllr 
Druitt to claim a dependant carers allowances for. Having reviewed the information 
supplied to me and considered the outcome of the enquiry into the concerns of the Group 
carried out by the Assistant Director of Legal & Democratic Services, I have taken the 
view that no further action is necessary”. 
 

(2) Minutes 
 

21.5 Councillor Meadows read the following question: 
 
“Can the Chair provide an explanation as to why the minutes of the last Audit & Standards 
Committee meeting that were presented to the Full Council meeting on the 21st of July to 
accompany the item ‘Audit Report on Member Expenses’ did not include the contributions 
of either Conservative Councillor at that meeting?” 
 

21.6 The Chair provided the following reply: 
 
“Thank you for your question. The minutes of any committee meeting are not the official, 
agreed record until they have been approved by the next meeting of the committee.  
The minutes that accompanied the report referred for information to Full Council in July 
were a brief record of the points raised at our previous meeting and were produced at 
haste, to give Full Council a very draft overview of some the questions raised at the 
committee as well as accounting for the amendment approved at the meeting. I note that 
the report was referred to that meeting for information and not for decision. 
The time between July and now has given opportunity to review the draft and expand it 
where necessary.  
Going forward, any minute extract that is referred from one committee meeting to another, 
will make it very clear within the extract that it is draft if it has not yet been agreed by that 
committee.  

10



 

 
 

AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 29 NOVEMBER 
2022 

We have received and approved the formal record of our previous meeting to today’s 
meeting.  
Minutes are not a verbatim record of the meeting and Members have an opportunity under 
Standing Order 12 to raise matters of accuracy”. 

 
21.7 Councillor Meadows put the following supplementary question: 

 
“Why does the Council sanitise webcast and minutes to distort the record of what actually 
happened” 
 

21.8 The Chair provided the following reply: 
 
“The minutes in question are draft and an extract of the proceedings of the meeting of this 
committee held in June have been put before this committee and have been agreed. 
Minutes are not a verbatim record of proceedings but serve to pick up the main threads 
of the discussion that led to the conclusion. Therefore, I cannot support your view that the 
minutes have been sanitised in any way on the basis of what I have just presented to you. 
They are not a verbatim account, they are draft and therefore, I believe that question has 
been answered”. 

 
(c)      Letters 
 
21.9 The Committee considered a Letter submitted by Councillor Meadows requesting monthly 

publication of Members Expenses.  
 

21.10 The Chair provided the following response: 
 
“Following the recommendations at Audit & Standards Committee 28 June 2022, Officers 
are working to implement electronic claim forms and digitising the process for Member 
Allowance claims. This will make the audit and review of claims simpler and quicker in the 
future.  It will also ensure that councillor expenses are published within two months of the 
end of the financial year and that the council continues to comply with its statutory duty 
which is to publish these figures annually.  
Audit & Standards Committee requested an update report be brought as soon as 
reasonably possible to a future meeting and I can confirm that this report will be received 
at the meeting in January 2023.  
The Council does not have the officer resource that would be required to move from the 
annual publication of expenses to monthly publication of these figures. 
 

21.11 Resolved- That the Committee note the Letter.  
 
22 AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT 2021-22 
 
23 AUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021-22 
 
23.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director, Governance, People & 

Resources that provided information about the audit of the council’s 2021/22 Statement 
of Accounts and recommends approval of the 2021/22 audited accounts and the Letter of 
Representation on behalf of the council. 
 

11



 

 
 

AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 29 NOVEMBER 
2022 

23.2 Councillors West, Hugh-Jones, Atkinson, Meadows, Yates and Helen Aston asked 
questions and contributed to the debate of the report. 
 

23.3 Resolved- That the Audit & Standards Committee: 
   
1) Notes the results of the public inspection of the accounts (paragraph 5). 
 
2) Approves the Letter of Representation on behalf of the council (Appendix 1). 
 
3) Approves the audited Statement of Accounts 2021/22 (Appendix 3) for publication. 
 
4) Delegates authority to the Chief Finance Officer for any final wording and/or immaterial 

adjustments to the accounts prior to publication. 
 
24 INTERNAL AUDIT AND COUNTER FRAUD QUARTER 1 PROGRESS REPORT 

2022/23 
 
24.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director, Governance, People & 

Resources that provided an update on all internal audit and counter fraud activity 
completed during quarter 1 (2022/23), including a summary of all key audit findings.  The 
report also included an update on the performance of the Internal Audit service during the 
period. 
 

24.2 Councillors West, Hugh-Jones, Meadows, Yates and Shanks asked questions and 
contributed to the debate of the report. 
 

24.3 Resolved- That the Committee note the report. 
 
25 INTERNAL AUDIT AND COUNTER FRAUD QUARTER 2 PROGRESS REPORT 

2022-23 
 
25.1 The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director, Governance, People & 

Resources that Committee considered a report of the Executive Director, Governance, 
People & Resources that provided an update on all internal audit and counter fraud activity 
completed during quarter 2 (2022/23), including a summary of all key audit findings.  The 
report also included an update on the performance of the Internal Audit service during the 
period. 
 

25.2 Councillors Yates, Meadows, West, Hugh-Jones and Atkinson asked questions and 
contributed to the debate of the report. 
 

25.3 Resolved- That the Committee note the report.  
 
26 ANTI- FRAUD AND CORRUPTION STRATEGY AND FRAMEWORK 2022-24 
 

Resolved- That the Committee approve the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy and Framework attached as Appendix 1. 

 
27 STANDARDS UPDATE 
 

12



 

 
 

AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 29 NOVEMBER 
2022 

27.1 The Committee considered a report of the Monitoring Officer that provided a quarterly 
update on member complaints and on Standards-related matters. 
 

27.2 Councillors West, Yates, Meadows, Shanks and Atkinson asked questions and 
contributed to the debate of the report. 
 

27.3 Resolved- That Committee notes the information in the Report. 
 
28 ITEMS REFERRED FOR COUNCIL 
 
28.1 No items were referred to Full Council for information.  
 
29 ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING 
 
29.1 The Committee agreed to receive a report outlining actions being undertaken in relation 

to the partial audit assurance issued on Health & Safety.  
 

 
The meeting concluded at 6.00pm 

 
 

13



14



Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Audit & Standards Committee Agenda Item 36
  

Subject: Risk Management Framework  
 
Date of meeting: 24th January 2023 
 
Report of: Executive Director, Governance, People and Resources 
 
Contact Officer: Name: Rima Desai, Luke Hamblin 
 Tel: 01273 291268, 01273 291496 
 Email: rima.desai@brighton-hove.gov.uk,    

                luke.hamblin@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
 
Ward(s) affected: All  
 

For general release  
 
1. Purpose of the report and policy context 
 
1.1 This report provides committee with an oversight of the Brighton & Hove City 

Council’s current Risk Management Framework with a view to seeking their 
approval. 
 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the committee approves the Risk Management Framework as set out in 
Appendix 1.  

 
2.2 That the committee notes the current strategic risks and committees they 

are reported to as set out in Appendix 2. 
 
2.3 That the committee notes that internal audit of risk management conducted 

in 2022/23 provided ‘Substantial Assurance’. This opinion means that 
controls are in place and are operating as expected to manage key risks to 
the achievement of system or service objectives. 
 

3. Context and background information 
 

3.1 Risk management is part of the Performance Management Framework.  
 

Best Value Authorities are under a general Duty of Best Value to “make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness.” 

 
3.2 Risk management is integral to corporate governance 
 

Corporate governance is about doing the right things in the right way. It's 
about demonstrating accountability and transparency in our actions and 
decisions, and is everyone's responsibility. 

 Establishing and following robust systems and processes  
 

15

mailto:rima.desai@brighton-hove.gov.uk
mailto:luke.hamblin@brighton-hove.gov.uk


 

 

 Demonstrating effective leadership and high standards of behaviour  

 Creating a culture based on openness and transparency 

 Keeping our focus on the needs of service users and the public  
 

Corporate Governance: 

 Helps the council avoid costly mistakes and keeps the council safe 

 Protects the council’s reputation 

 Assists effective decision making and prioritises deployment of     
 resources 

 
3.3 The responsibilities of the Audit & Standards Committee in the Council’s 

Constitution include considering the effectiveness of the council’s 
arrangements for the management of risk required by regulation 3(c) of the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

 
3.4 An audit of risk management was conducted in summer 2022. The purpose 

of the audit was to provide assurance that controls are in place to meet the 
following objectives. The outcome of this audit was ‘substantial assurance’.  

 The Council has in place a robust Risk Management Framework which 
facilitates the effective identification, assessment and response (where 
appropriate) to risks. 

 Management ensure that risks are subject to appropriate identification, 
assessment and response (where appropriate) in accordance with the 
organisation’s Risk Management Framework. 

 Effective mitigations are in place to minimise the impact and / or 
likelihood of occurrence of the risks identified. 

 Robust reporting arrangements are in place to allow for effective senior 
officer and Member oversight. 

 
 
4. Analysis and consideration of alternative options  
 
4.1 A CIPFA review conducted in July 2021 confirmed that our risk management 

was appropriate. Suggestions for improvement were included in the review 
which the council is in the process of implementing. 

 
5. Community engagement and consultation 
 
5.1 This is an internal matter to comply with legislation and as such no 

engagement or consultation has been undertaken in this regard. 
 
6. Conclusion 
 
6.1 The council believes it has a robust Risk Management Framework as 

evidenced by this report to meet the challenges of delivering services in the 
financial context that local authorities are working in. 

 
7. Financial implications 

 

16



 

 

7.1  The Risk Management Framework detailed in Appendix 1 will help the 
authority to safeguard its public finances. There are no financial implications 
in the report’s recommendations  

 
Name of finance officer consulted: Peter Francis   Date consulted: 
29/11/2022 

 
8. Legal implications 
 

8.1  The Council has delegated to the Audit & Standards Committee  
responsibility for carrying out independent scrutiny of the Council’s 
processes, procedures and practices to the extent that they affect the 
Councils control environment and exposure to risk. This Committee is the 
correct body for reviewing the Council’s risk management framework, having 
been delegated the task of providing reassurance on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of that framework. 

  
8.2 All corporate Strategic Risks potentially have legal implications. Strategic 

Risk details are reported to relevant service committees; these include 
reference to key implications. 

 
Name of lawyer consulted: Victoria Simpson Date consulted: 01/12/22 

 
9. Equalities implications 
 
9.1 Risk Owners are requested to ensure that equalities implications are 

considered in describing strategic risks, their potential consequences and 
when developing mitigating actions. 

 
9.2 SR25 has a key focus on equalities through the Our People Promise 

strategy, specifically through the Fair and Inclusive Action Plan and the 
Corporate and Directorate Equalities Delivery Groups. 

 
10. Sustainability implications 
 
10.1 Risk owners are requested to consider sustainability implications, and this 

will continue to be part of regular ELT and DMT risk review sessions.  
 

10.2 SR36 has a key focus on sustainability through the Carbon Neutral 
modernisation programme. In addition, any sustainability implications of a 
direct nature are normally referenced within the risk description of any 
relevant strategic risks. 

 
 

Supporting Documentation 
 

1. Appendices  
 
1. Appendix 1: Risk Management Framework  
2. Appendix 2: Strategic Risk List  
 

17



 

 

2. Background documents 
1.        None 

 

18



1 
 

  

 
 

Risk Management 
Framework  

19



2 
 

 

Contents 
Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 3 

What is risk and risk management? .............................................................................. 3 
Risk management is part of the Performance Management Framework ....................... 3 
Risk management is integral to corporate governance ................................................. 4 
What is corporate governance? .................................................................................... 4 
Risk management is necessary for achieving the corporate plan ................................. 5 
Risk Management is part of our Behaviour Framework ................................................. 5 

Risk Management Approach ............................................................................................ 6 
Risk Management Process ........................................................................................... 6 
Risk Levels .................................................................................................................... 6 
Roles & Responsibilities ................................................................................................ 8 

Risk Management Process ............................................................................................... 9 
Step 1 – Identify – Risk Description & Existing Controls ............................................... 9 
Step 2 – Assess – Current Risk Score ........................................................................ 12 
Step 3 – Treatment – Mitigating Actions & Target Risk Score ..................................... 18 
Step 4 – Review and Report – Risk Register and Risk Report .................................... 19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Author: Luke Hamblin      Last reviewed: January 2023  

20



3 
 

Introduction 
What is risk and risk management? 
A risk is the potential of an uncertain situation or event to impact on the achievement of 
objectives. Risk management is the process of identifying, assessing and controlling 
threats to an organisation's objectives. Risks have potential to adversely affect 
achievement of our objectives. Identifying risks supports an organisation in planning 
effectively to achieve its objectives. 

 

Risk management is part of the Performance Management Framework 
Best Value Authorities are under a general Duty of Best Value to “make arrangements to 
secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.” 

 
The eight elements of the Performance Management Framework allow us to understand 
the performance of the council as a whole which will give us better context in which we are 
operating. The elements are inter-related; most services contribute to every element in the 
framework. 

The Performance Management Framework sets out to ensure: 

• strong leadership at all levels which is consistent and fair and challenges blame 
culture  

• commitment to the accountability that has been assigned to individuals  
• the right information reaching the right people at the right time so that decisions are 

made and actions are taken  
• ongoing evaluation, review and learning to help improve future performance  
• the ability to identify and commitment to rectify poor performance at an early stage 

Continuous 
Improvement

1
Business 

Planning and 
Management 2

Risk 
Management

3
Financial 

Management

4
Customer 

Insight5
Modernisation 
Programmes & 

Projects

6
People 

Management

7
Health & 

Safety 
Management

8
Safeguarding 

Quality 
Assurance 

21



4 
 

 

Risk management is integral to corporate governance 
There is a statutory requirement for each local authority to conduct a review of its system 
of internal control and prepare and publish an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) at 
least once every financial year. The purpose of the AGS is to demonstrate that there is a 
sound system of governance and show compliance with its Local Code of Governance 
(approved 25 July 2017). The AGS sets actions to strengthen governance and reviews 
progress of actions in the previous year. 

 
What is corporate governance? 

• The arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes for 
stakeholders are defined and achieved 

• How the council makes sure it does the right things in the right way for the right 
people 

• Establishing and following robust systems and processes  
• Demonstrating effective leadership, including accountability and transparency in 

actions and decisions 
• Creating a culture based on openness, inclusivity and honesty 
• Keeping our focus on the needs of service users and the public, ensuring public 

money is safeguarded, accounted for and used efficiently and effectively 
• Ongoing continuous improvement to further strengthen the way the council 

operates 

The seven principles of Good Governance, from ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government Framework 2014’ published by CIPFA/IFAC, are: 

A. Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law 

B. Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement 

C. Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits 

D. Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcome 

E. Developing the entity's capacity 
including the capacity of its 
leadership and with individuals 
within it 

F. Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong financial management 

G. Implementing good practice in 
transparency, reporting and audit to 
deliver effective  
accountability  

22

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Part%208.11%20Code%20of%20Corporate%20Governance%2025.07.2017_0.pdf
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/Part%208.11%20Code%20of%20Corporate%20Governance%2025.07.2017_0.pdf


5 
 

Risk management is necessary for achieving our strategic objectives  
This diagram shows how risks should be considered to inform our planning and audits to 
ensure we meet our strategic objectives with good governance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Risk Management is part of our Behaviour Framework 
Our behaviour framework provides us with a common language for how we go about our 
daily work alongside our PDP objectives that describe what we do; helping us to manage 
and improve our performance to build a better, more effective organisation with better 
outcomes for our customers and stakeholders. The following sections are particularly 
relevant to risk management: 

Efficiency 

• I scrutinise evidence, data and risks before I 
make a decision or a recommendation. 

• I speak to the right person if there are any 
problems I can’t solve myself. 

• I am willing to take considered risks to deliver 
better results. 

Leadership & management 

• I take advantage of social, cultural, 
environmental and technological change to 
establish the most effective and efficient 
delivery of our service. 

• I look ahead to anticipate change and take time 
to plan for the future. 

• I take accountability to ensure sound 
governance of our organisation. 

• I consider potential risks and opportunities 
before I make any decisions. 

Strategic Objectives 

Planning Opportunities 

Risks 

Audit 

Emergency Planning 
& Resilience 

Information/ 
Data 

Stakeholder 
engagement, 

Customer 
Feedback, Lessons 
Learned, Analysis & 
Modelling, PESTEL 

Analysis, 
Benchmarking, 

Horizon Scanning, 
Legislation, 
Financial 

Constraints etc. 

 

Directorate Plan 

Service Plan 

Programme/ Project 
Plan 

Monitoring 

23



6 
 

Risk Management Approach 
Risk Management Process  
The risk management process is used to manage risks. 

 

 
Risk Levels 
When identifying and assessing the risk, it needs to prioritised and managed at the right 
level. This could be at a strategic (corporate), directorate, service/team or 
programme/project level. 

The level of a risk will depend on the scope, scale of potential impact and the type of 
response required. Risks can be escalated or de-escalated between levels through 
reviews. 

Step 1 - Identify
Description & Existing 

Controls
1. Consider emerging risks and 

incidents
2. Describe the risk, including the 

causes and potential consequences
3. Use the Three Lines of Defence to 

describe your Existing Controls 

Step 2 - Assess
Current Risk Score 

1. Use the Risk Matrix to score the 
Likelihood and Impact of a risk on 
your objective taking into account 
existing controls. Multiply these 

scores. 
2. Prioritise your risks.

Step 3 - Treatment
Mitigating Actions & 

Target Risk Score
1. Decide on your risk treatment: 

Treat, Tolerate, Terminate or Transfer 
2. Plan actions and controls to further 
prevent the risk from occurring and 
mitigate the impact of the risk if it 

does occur.
3. Use the Risk Matrix to re-score the 
risk assuming all planned actions are 

completed.

Step 4 - Review & Report
Risk Register & Report
1. Record risks on the Risk Register

2. Monitor the progress of actions and 
effectiveness of controls

3. Regularly review the risk 
descriptions, scores, controls and 
actions in light of new information

4. Report to relevant stakeholders i.e. 
DMT, ELT, Audit & Standards 

committee,  Committee Chairs

24



7 
 

 

Level & Risk 
Owner 

What makes this type of risk? Oversight 

Strategic Risk (SR) 

A member of 
Executive 
Leadership Team 
(ELT) 

  

*Affects multiple directorates/ 
organisations 

*Impacts on achievement of the 
Corporate Plan 

*Requires cross-directorate 
response 

Audit & Standards 
Committee 

Relevant Committees 

External & Internal Audit  

Executive Leadership Team 

Directorate Risk 
(DR) 

A member of a 
Directorate 
Management Team 
(DMT) 

*Affects multiple services/ 
departments 

*Impacts on achievement of the 
Directorate Plan 

*Requires directorate level 
response 

Relevant Committees 

Internal Audit 

Executive Leadership Team 

Directorate Management 
Team 

Service/Team 
Risks  

Head of Service or 
Team Leader 

*Limited to individual team/ service 

*Impacts on achievement of the 
service’s plan and objectives 

*Response can be managed within 
service 

Directorate Management 
Team 

Heads of Service 

Programme/Project 
Risks 

A member of 
Programme/Project 
Board 

*Impacts on achievement of the 
Programme/Project’s objectives  

*Response can be managed within 
Programme/Project 

Corporate Modernisation 
Delivery Board or ELT 

Directorate Modernisation 
Board or DMT 

Programme/Project Board 

 

Our Corporate Risk Assurance Framework uses the ‘three lines of defence model’ to 
assess the effectiveness of how we manage organisational risks. Audit & Standards 
Committee have oversight of the risk management framework. 

 Strategic risks are owned by an Executive Leadership Team (ELT) lead. ELT leads are 
responsible for discussing strategic risks with the relevant committee chairs with a view to 
mitigating these as appropriate. Any member can approach an ELT lead with risks that 
they foresee for them to take account of it in their risk review sessions. Strategic risks are 
reviewed regularly by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT).  

Directorate and strategic risks are reviewed 
regularly by Directorate Management Teams 
(DMTs); risk registers are live documents. Newly 
identified risks, suggested amendments to 
strategic risks and the Directorate Risk Registers 
are reported to ELT as part of their risk review.  

25



8 
 

All officers are expected to escalate risks to the relevant DMT lead. Risk management 
training is available to all officers.  

 
Roles & Responsibilities 
 

Role Responsibilities 
Audit & Standards Committee Oversight of the risk management framework and 

recommend improvements to strengthen risk 
management 

Committee Chairs Oversight of relevant risks 
Executive Leadership Team 

(ELT) 
Accountable for the Strategic Risk Register 
Review the strategic risk register, ensuring it contains 
appropriate risks and they are managed effectively 
Agree recommendations in changes to strategic risks 
Promote culture of risk management 
Each Executive Director is responsible for their 
Directorate Risk Register 

Directorate Management 
Team (DMT) 

Management of the directorate risk register, ensuring it 
contains appropriate risks and they are managed 
effectively 
Escalation/de-escalation of risks between service, 
directorate and strategic levels 

Risk Owner Accountable for the management of assigned risks, 
ensuring descriptions, assessments and risk scores are 
accurate, and suitable controls and actions are in place 
to mitigate the risk 
Provide updates on the risk, including any emerging 
information which may impact the risk 

Risk Action Lead Responsible for delivering the action assigned 
Provide progress updates 
Support the risk owner to describe and mitigate the risk 

Programme Manager 
responsible for risk 

Maintain the Strategic Risk Register through regular 
reviews with DMTs and ELT 
Support DMTs to review their Directorate Risk Registers 
Implement and review the risk management framework 

 

 

  

26



9 
 

Risk Management Process 
Step 1 – Identify – Risk Description & Existing Controls 
Identifying risks is the first stage of the risk management process. Risks can be identified 
by anyone, but they need to be carefully described so that the organisation is fully aware 
of the causes and potential consequences so that the right controls and actions can be put 
in place to mitigate the risk. 

Risk Description 
The risk title is a short summary that clearly explains the risk event. The risk title often 
begins with terms such as: 

• Loss of … 
• Uncertainty of … 
• Ineffective Partnership with … 
• Slow Development of … 
• Unable to take up Opportunity to … 
• Threat of … 
• Failure to … 
• Lack of… 

 
Causes are the reasons why the risk event could occur and potential consequences are 
the potential outcomes if the risk event does occur. It is important to consider equality and 
sustainability implications, as well as legal and reputational. 
 
Describing risks is best done in groups of stakeholders who are responsible for delivering 
or impacted by the objectives that the risk may impact. It is important to identify risks 
when: 

• Setting strategic aims 
• Setting business objectives 
• Writing directorate or service plans 
• Project planning 
• Appraising options 
• Making changes to business set up or service provision 
• Reviewing audits 
• Learning from incidents 

 
The risk categories below can be useful to help prompt areas where risks could be 
identified. 

  

27



10 
 

Risk Categories Checklist 

 

Professional,  
Managerial, 
Partnership 

Recruitment/Retention of qualified 
staff; Capacity; Industrial relations 
issues; Succession Planning; Ability 
to implement change; Skill set mix 
of employees and community or 
commercial groups where a 
statutory or civil responsibility may 
attach to the council; Effective 
management of partnership 
working; changes in partnership 
leadership

Economic, 
Financial 

Financial uncertainty in future 
resource levels; Impact of national 

economic position; Failure of 
major project(s); Missed business 
and service opportunities; Failure 
to prioritise, allocate appropriate 

budgets and monitor; 
Inefficient/ineffective processing 

of documents

Data Privacy 

Currency of data protection impact 
assessments; How commissioned 
services record data processing 
activities; Need for data 
information agreements

Social 

Meeting the needs of 
disadvantaged communities; 

Tracking the changes in 
population base; Employment 
opportunities; Health & Well-

Being implications on community; 
Regeneration; Partnership 

working; Life-long learning; 
recognising contribution to 

council’s key social and 
community  initiatives 

Technological 

Impact of individual service systems 
on corporate ability to prepare for 
IT disaster recovery and business 
continuity; Power supply failure; 
Theft or destruction of equipment; 
Tampering with hardware or 
software; Managing recyclable or 
discarded equipment or media; 
Data security issues

Customer, 
Citizen 

Ability to manage demand led 
service pressures; Appropriate 

consultation; Quality of customer 
care; Access to services; Views of 

Service Users and/or viewpoint of 
patients; Political support, e.g. 

Members of city council.

28



11 
 

 

Legislative

Meeting statutory duties/ 
deadlines; Breach of 
confidentiality/ Data Protection 
Acts requirements; European 
Directives on Procurement of 
Services; Implementation of 
legislative change

Physical

Managing security of events 
within buildings; Terrorism; 

Human Resources issues; Loss of 
intangible assets (e.g. 

intellectual property); Health 
and Safety; Loss of physical 

assets (e.g. damage to property 
as a result of fire or theft).

Contractual, 
Competitive 

Over reliance on key suppliers/ 
contractors; Ineffective contract 
management; Contractor failure; 
Lack of existing markets; Targets 
for performance related funding

Equalities  

Workforce Composition – across all of the council 
and its partnership work; Appropriate recognition 

of the diversity of Service Users/Customers; 
Ensuring consistent minimum standards to meet 

legislative duties (incl. training, sharing policies & 
best practice); Altering working practices as 

necessary to meet diverse needs and ensure no 
discrimination; Ability to demonstrate equalities 

in action

Political 

Impact of Strategic Priorities on 
business activities; Clarity & 
cohesion in decision making; 
Impact of Central Government 
policy on local policy/local 
initiative; Uncertain democratic 
support for change (incl. 
partnership working & 
integration)

Environment
al, 

Sustainability 

Energy use (efficiency), energy costs, energy 
supply; Climate Change Adaptation of Services 

(including extreme or sustained weather 
events); Waste Management – correct disposal, 

hazardous waste; Waste reduction and 
recycling issues; Noise and street scene 

implications; Pollution control, air pollution, 
spillages; Water conservation; Transport 

implications.

Fraud & 
Corruption 

Appropriate segregation of duties; Security of 
data and other assets; Hospitality/Gifts Policy, 
Record Keeping and Monitoring; Trends of 
working/sickness absences (potentially 
fraudulent); Level of awareness of fraud risk 
exposure at service level; Whistleblowing; 
Verification/Validation checks e.g. before 
staff/contractor appointments/cash 
transactions.

Practice & 
Clinical 
Issues, 

including 
Clinical 

Governance 

Practice issues; Patient Safety; 
Clinical Governance; Clinical 

Procedures; On-going 
professional development; Loss 

of key clinical staff.

29



12 
 

LI
KE

LI
HO

O
D 

Almost 
certain 

(5) 
5 10 15 20 25 

Likely 
(4) 4 8 12 16 20 

Possible 
(3) 3 6 9 12 15 

Unlikely 
(2) 2 4 6 8 10 

Almost 
impossible 

(1) 
1 2 3 4 5 

 
 Insignificant 

(1) Minor (2) Moderate 
(3) 

Major 
(4) 

Catastrophic 
(5) 

  IMPACT 

 

Existing Controls 
Controls are measures that are embedded to either prevent the risk event from occurring 
or reduce the impact of the risk if it does occur. 

The Three Lines of Defence model has been practiced for a number of years, particularly 
within financial services, central government and the NHS and our Corporate Risk 
Assurance Framework (CRAF) uses the ‘three lines of defence model’ to assess the 
effectiveness of how we manage organisational risks. 

The Three Lines of Defence model outlines three levels of assurance. Using the Three 
Lines of Defence for Existing Controls for each risk provides an ‘assurance map’ so that 
we can clearly see the sources of assurance and existing processes specific to that risk. 

The use of the Three Lines of Defence model demonstrates: 

• your plan to ensure that proper controls are in place 
• that checks are in place for all areas of control 
• that you are making best use of the assurance process, i.e. all areas are checked 

by someone and duplication is avoided. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Step 2 – Assess – Current Risk 
Score 
Risks are prioritised by assigning 
risk scores 1-5 to the likelihood (L) 
of the risk occurring, and the 
potential impact (I) if it should occur. 

1
st
 Line of Defence 

Management controls 
and internal control 

measures 

2
nd

 Line of Defence 

Corporate oversight 

3
rd

 Line of Defence 

Independent assurance 

Senior Management 

Relevant Committee / Audit & Standards Committee 

Involves those who know 
the business, culture and 
day to day challenges 

Involves those 
responsible for delivery 
and not independent of 
the management chain 
(senior management, 
boards and committees) 

Internal audit, external 
audit and regulators 

30



13 
 

These L and I scores are multiplied; the higher the result of L x I, the greater the risk. e.g. 
L4xI4 which denotes a Likelihood score of 4 (Likely) x Impact score of 4 (Major), which 
gives a total risk score of 16.  

A colour coded system, similar to the traffic light system, is used to distinguish risks that 
require intervention. Red risks are the highest (15-25), amber risks are significant (8-14), 
yellow risks are moderate (4-7), and then green risks are lowest (1-3). 

The purpose of scoring is to prioritise risks to ensure resources are allocated to the most 
significant risks. Heat maps are a helpful way to see how risk scoring compares. 

The Strategic Risk Register mostly includes high (red) and significant (amber) risks. 
Directorate Risk Registers are likely to include high, significant, moderate (yellow) and low 
(green) risks. 

The current risk score takes into account existing controls that are already embedded. 

Scoring should be a realistic assessment without optimism bias. The risk scoring guidance 
below can support you to assess the risk score. 

 

Likelihood Risk Score 
 

Risk 
Score  

Likelihood 
Descriptor 

Guidance 

1 

 

Almost 
Impossible 

Difficult to see how this could occur. 
Has happened very rarely before or never 
Is a highly unlikely climate scenario, even at the extremes of climate 
projections 

2 

 

Unlikely Do not expect occurrence but it is possible. 
Less than 10% chance of occurrence 
May have happened in the past; unlikely to happen in the next three 
years 

3 

 

Possible May occur occasionally. 
Only likely to happen once in 3 or more years 
Has happened in the past; reasonable possibility it will happen as 
part of climate change scenarios 

4 

 

Likely Will occur persistently but is not an everyday occurrence. 
Likely to happen at some point within the next 1-2 years 
Circumstances occasionally encountered within likely climate change 
scenarios 

5 Almost Certain High probability of situation occurring 
Regular occurrence, Circumstances frequently encountered, 
daily/weekly/monthly 

31



14 
 

Impact Risk Score 
 

Impact Type 1 
Insignificant 

2 
Minor 

3 
Moderate 

4 
Major 

5 
Catastrophic 

Health minor injury, basic 
first aid required, 1 
person affected, no 
days absence, no 
delay  

non-permanent harm, 
short-term injury, 
resulting in absence of 
up to 3 days. 1 – 2 
persons affected 

causing semi-
permanent disability, 
injury, disease or 
harm which could 
interrupt attendance 
at work for 3-28 days 
AND/OR affects 3 - 
50 people  

causing death, permanent 
disability, serious injury or 
harm, e.g. loss of function 
or body part(s), serious 
disability, single death of 
any person. 51-200 
people affected. Long 
term absence from work 
(28-84 days), extended 
medical attention 
required, e.g. up to a 
month in hospital 

multiple deaths 
involving any persons, 
greater than 200 people 
affected, more than 84 
days absence, more 
than 30 days extended 
hospital stay 

Impact on 
city life 

insignificant 
disruption to 
community services, 
including transport 
services and 
infrastructure  

minor localised 
disruption to community 
services or infrastructure 
less than 24 hours  

damage that is 
confined to a specific 
location, or to a 
number of locations, 
but requires additional 
resources. Localised 
disruption to 
infrastructure and 
community services 

significant damage that 
impacts on and possible 
breakdown of some local 
community services. 
Requires support for local 
responders with external 
resources 

extensive damage to 
properties and built 
environment in affected 
areas. General & 
widespread 
displacement of more 
than 500 people for 
prolonged duration. 
Community unable to 
function without 
significant support 

Service 
Delivery 

no service disruption, 
unlikely to cause 
complaint or instigate 

minor service disruption, 
complaint possible, 
litigation unlikely 

moderate service 
disruption. High 
potential for complaints, 

service closure for 1-7 
days, complaints 
expected, litigation 

service closure for 
more than 7 days or 
closure of multiple 

32



15 
 

litigation litigation possible, but 
not certain 

expected services, complaints 
certain, litigation certain 

 

Economic none/minimal 
financial burden (less 
than £100, can be 
resolved at local 
service / department 
level), minor 
interruption to 
income generation, 
no permanent loss 

minimal financial 
burden or disruption to 
income generation 
(less than £1,000 but 
greater than £100). 
Can be resolved at 
line manager/ service 
manager level through 
usual budgetary 
measures 

moderate financial 
burden (less than 
£10,000 but greater than 
£1,000). Interruption to 
income generation 
lasting less than 14 days, 
majority of income 
recoverable but at 
additional cost 

major financial burden 
(less than £100,000 but 
greater than £10,000). 
Can include significant 
extra clean up and 
recovery costs. 

catastrophic financial 
burden (greater than 
£100,000). Extensive 
clean up and recovery 
costs 

Environment insignificant impact 
on environment 

minor impact on 
environment with no 
lasting effects 

limited impact on 
environment with 
short-term or long 
term effects 

significant impact on 
environment with medium 
to long term effects 

serious long-term 
impact on environment 
and/or permanent 
change.  

Reputation organisation(s) 
reputation remains 
intact 

minimal impact on 
organisation(s) 
reputation 

moderate impact on 
organisation(s) 
reputation 

major impact on 
organisation (s) 
reputation / National 
adverse publicity 

catastrophic impact on 
organisation(s) 
reputation. International 
adverse publicity 

Personal 
Privacy 
Infringement 

No personal details 
compromised/ 
revealed 

Isolated individual 
personal detail 
compromised/ 
revealed 

All personal details 
compromised/ 
revealed 

Many individual personal 
details compromised/ 
revealed 

Personal Data revealed 
which leads to serious 
incident and lack of 
credibility in 
organisation’s ability to  

manage data, fine 

 

33



16 
 

Project 
Delivery 

1 
Insignificant 

2 
Minor 

3 
Moderate 

4 
Major 

5 
Catastrophic 

Project 
Status 

Project on schedule 
to deliver the 
planned works on 
time and to budget 

Project on 
schedule to 
delivery the 
planned works on 
time and to budget 

The project has encountered 
some issues which could 
affect the delivery of the 
planned works within agreed 
time, costs and resources 

The project has 
encountered some 
issues which could affect 
the delivery of the 
planned works within 
agreed time, costs and 
resources 

Delivery of the 
planned works within 
agreed time, costs 
and resources is 
presently threatened 

Timescales No delays 
anticipated 

The project is 
delayed by 1 week 
or under 

The project is delayed by 1 
week – 2 weeks 

The project is delayed by 
2 weeks or over 

 

Resources The project is fully 
resourced 

The project is fully 
resourced 

A lack of human resources 
which could impact overall 
delivery and require 
Programme Board attention 

Lack of human resource 
is impacting successful 
delivery and needs to be 
addressed immediately 

Lack of human 
resource is impacting 
successful delivery 
and needs to be 
addressed 
immediately 

Issues All issues under 
control and none 
outstanding 
requiring 
Programme Board 
attention 

All issues under 
control and none 
outstanding 
requiring 
Programme Board 
attention 

Outstanding issues which 
could impact overall delivery 
and require Programme 
Board attention 

Outstanding issues which 
could impact overall 
delivery and require 
Programme Board 
attention 

Outstanding issues 
which will impact the 
overall delivery require 
URGENT Programme 
Board attention 

Risks All risks under 
control and none 
outstanding 
requiring 
Programme Board 

All risks under 
control and none 
outstanding 
requiring 
Programme Board 

Risks that have a medium 
probability of occurring and 
will have a medium impact on 
the programme and require 
Programme Board attention if 

Risks that have high or 
medium probability and 
impact if they occur and 
require the Programme 

Risks that have high 
or medium probability 
and impact if they 
occur require the 
Programme Board 

34



17 
 

 

attention attention there is no change or is 
increasing 

Board attention attention 

Budget Predicted costs are 
on track and within 
the cash limit 
budget 

Predicted costs are 
on track and within 
the cash limit 
budget 

Predicted costs are under 
10% of budget 

Predicted costs are up to 
10% over budget 

Predicted costs are in 
excess of 10% over 
budget 

35



18 
 

Step 3 – Treatment – Mitigating Actions & Target Risk Score 
Risk Treatment 
Based on the Current Risk Score, the Risk Matrix provides a colour rating to help you 
choose one or more of the Risk Treatments - the four T’s and record the reason for your 
choice. 

• Treat - take further action to reduce the likelihood or impact. 
• Tolerate - decide the risk level is tolerable and that no extra resources will be 

applied due to a cost-benefit analysis or elements being outside of our control. 
• Terminate - stop undertaking the activity which leads to the risk. 
• Transfer - pass to another party or organisation to deal with mitigations to reduce 

the council's liability and exposure, for example, through insurance. We would still 
own the risk. Often this is not possible due to costs or legal duty. 

 
 
Risk Rating Risk 

Score 
Recommended action 

High 15-25 Immediate action and escalation required. Mitigating actions must be 
taken. 

Significant 8-14 Review and ensure effective controls. Mitigating actions should be 
taken. 

Moderate 4-7 Monitor in case the risk levels increase. 
Low 1-3 Monitor periodically. 
 

Mitigating Actions 
If you have decided that the risk should be treated, then mitigating actions should be taken 
to reduce the likelihood and/or impact of the risk. The actions should be SMART (Specific, 
Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Timebound) and agreed by the Risk Action Lead 
who is named responsible for delivering the action. Mitigating actions should have a start 
and end date and progress should be regularly tracked. 

It is important to ensure that mitigating risk actions map to directorate or service plan 
actions, so that they are planned and resourced adequately to be completed within the 
timeframe indicated. 

 

Risk Appetite 
Risk appetite defines the level of risk the council is prepared to accept for a particular 
scenario at any given point in time and in the context of our strategic objectives, current 
priorities, and our power to directly influence any given situation.  

Risk Action Leads, in consultation with ELT, must consider all contextual information when 
determining the council’s level of risk appetite for each scenario and reflect this when 
setting the target score for each risk. 

Strategic risks are presented to the relevant service committee at least annually. Service 
committees take account of the risk appetite when considering whether the target score is 
appropriate and provide support and challenge to the risk owner. For example, where a 
service committee believes that the risk appetite should be lower than what the risk owner 
has proposed they will recommend further mitigating actions to reduce the risk exposure, 
by reducing the likelihood or impact.  

36



19 
 

Similarly where a service committee believes that the risk appetite should be higher than 
what the risk owner has proposed they will recommend removing some of the mitigating 
actions. 

 

Target Risk Score 
The target risk score is scored similarly to the current risk score, but is based on the 
assumption that the mitigating risk actions are completed at the stated time and reflects 
the council’s risk appetite for that scenario. This shows the level of risk the council is 
willing to operate at but the score needs to be realistic and take into account the 
uncertainty of the situation and resources available to deliver actions so the target risk 
score can sometimes remain as a high ‘red’ score regardless of mitigation. 

 

 Step 4 – Review and Report – Risk Register and Risk Report 
Risk Register 
Risk Registers are a tool to help manage risk. The Strategic Risk Register is recorded on 
the Camms Risk system and the Directorate, Service, Programme and Project Risk 
Registers use the Excel/Word Risk Register template. 

The risk register should contain: 

• Risk code i.e. SR1 ‘Strategic Risk 1’ or EEC DR1 ‘Environment, Economy & Culture 
Directorate Risk 1’ 

• Risk title – clearly and succinctly describing the risk 
• Risk Owner 
• Causes 
• Potential Consequences 
• Existing Controls – ‘Three lines of defence’ 
• Current Risk Score – Likelihood, Impact and Total 
• Mitigating Actions (if risk is treated, or rationale for risk to be terminated, tolerated or 

transferred) 
• Target date to complete actions 
• Risk Action Lead 
• Target Risk Score – Likelihood, Impact and Total 
• Last reviewed date 
• Risk Status – Open or Closed 

 

37



20 
 

 
 

  

38



21 
 

Risk Reviews 
It is important to regularly review risks, especially if there is new information or changing 
circumstances that may relate to certain risks. 

Strategic risks are reviewed regularly by the Executive Leadership Team 
(ELT). Directorate and strategic risks are reviewed regularly by Directorate Management 
Teams (DMTs), but it is important to note that risk registers are live documents. Newly 
identified risks, suggested amendments to strategic risks and the Directorate Risk 
Registers are reported to ELT as part of their risk review. All officers are expected to 
escalate risks to the relevant DMT lead. Risk management training is available to all 
officers and resources can be found on the intranet. 

Standing agenda for DMT Risk Review 

• Strategic Risk Register – review and recommend amendments to ELT 
• Upcoming dates in the Risk Reporting Timetable 
• Reminders of the risk management approach 
• Directorate Risk Register – review risks and mitigating actions 

 

Standing agenda for ELT Risk Review 

• Strategic Risk Register – review and agree recommendations from Risk Owners & 
DMTs 

• Strategic Risk Register – emerging risks and requests from members 
• Upcoming dates in the Risk Reporting Timetable 
• Focus area of the risk management approach 
• Directorate Risk Registers – to note 

The diagram below shows the risk review cycle. Risk reviews occur quarterly at DMTs and 
ELT as a minimum, but it is also recommended for risk owners and services to take deep 
dives into risks where risk scores are not reducing or where circumstances impacting the 
risk significantly change. 

 
 

  

DMT leads 
collate feedback 

from services 
and projects 

DMTs review 
Directorate Risk 

Register and suggest 
amendments for 

Strategic Risk Register

ELT review 
Strategic Risk 
Register and 

suggested 
amendments

Outcomes of ELT Risk 
Review are reported to 
relevant stakeholders -

committee chairs, Audit & 
Standards Committee, 

DMTs, Risk Action Leads

39



22 
 

Risk Reporting 
The Risk Reporting Timetable sets out the quarterly reporting dates. Risk reviews are the 
best time to ensure risks are considered, although risks should be escalated at any time. 
The timetable informs Risk Action Leads and Risk Owners, the dates by which they should 
update on the progress of their risk actions or review the description of the risk, as well as 
the dates of Risk Reviews  

The Audit & Standards Committee have oversight of the risk management process. They 
review the Risk Management Framework annually. Relevant policy committees review 
related risks annually either as a risk focused report or part of any other relevant report.  

The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is published each year alongside the council’s 
accounts and is largely based on our risk management approach, strategic risks and 
internal audit. 

With all reports, it is important to ensure they are written taking into account the audience 
and purpose of the report.  

 

 

40



Page 1 of 2 
 

Appendix 2 Strategic Risk List 
R

is
k
 

N
o
s
. 

Risk Title  
Current Risk Score 

Likelihood (L) 
 x Impact (I)  

Target Risk Score 
Likelihood (L) x Impact 

(I)   
Committee  Risk Owner 

SR36 Not taking all actions required to address climate and 
ecological change and transitioning our city to carbon 
neutral by 2030 

4 x 5  

 
HIGH (RED) 

4 x 4  

 
HIGH (RED) 

Environment, Transport & 
Sustainability Committee  

Executive 
Director, 
Economy, 
Environment & 
Culture 

SR02 The Council is not financially sustainable in the medium 
term 
 
 

5 x 4 

 
HIGH (RED) 

4 x 4 

 
HIGH (RED) 

Policy & Resources 
Committee  
 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

SR25 Insufficient organisational capacity or resources to deliver all 
services and respond to changing needs and changing 
circumstances 
 

5 x 4  

 
HIGH (RED) 

4 x 4 

 
HIGH (RED) 

Policy & Resources 
Committee  
 

Chief Executive  

SR37 Adverse impact on health outcomes and business continuity 
from high levels of disease transmissions and pandemics in 
the city 
 

4 x 4  

 
HIGH (RED) 

3 x 4 

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

Adult Social Care & 
Public Health Sub-
Committee 
 

Executive 
Director, Health 
& Adult Social 
Care 
 

SR32 Challenges in ensuring robust & effective health & safety 
measures, leading to personal injury, prosecution, financial 
losses, or reputational damage 

4 x 4  

 
HIGH (RED) 

3 x 4  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

Policy & Resources 
Committee  

Director, Human 
Resources & 
Organisational 
Development 

SR18 The organisation is unable to deliver its functions in a 
modern, efficient way due to the lack of investment in and 
exploitation of technology 

4 x 4  

 
HIGH (RED) 

3 x 4 

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

Policy & Resources 
Committee  
 

Executive 
Director, 
Governance, 
People & 
Resources 

SR13 Not keeping adults safe from harm and abuse 
 

4 x 4  

 
HIGH (RED) 

3 x 4  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

Adult Social Care & 
Public Health Sub-
Committee 
 

Executive 
Director, Health 
& Adult Social 
Care 

20 16 

20 16 

20 16 

16 12 

16 12 

16 12 

16 12 

41



Page 2 of 2 
 

R
is

k
 

N
o
s
. 

Risk Title  
Current Risk Score 

Likelihood (L) 
 x Impact (I)  

Target Risk Score 
Likelihood (L) x Impact 

(I)   
Committee  Risk Owner 

SR15 
 

Not keeping children safe from harm and abuse  4 x 4  

 
HIGH (RED) 

3 x 4  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

Children, Young People & 
Skills Committee  

Executive 
Director 
Families, 
Children & 
Learning 

SR10 Corporate information assets are inadequately controlled 
and vulnerable to cyber attack  
 

4 x 4  

 
HIGH (RED) 

3 x 4  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

Policy & Resources 
Committee  
 

Chief Executive  

SR21 Unable to manage housing pressures and deliver new 
housing supply 

  

4 x 4   

 
HIGH (RED) 

4 x 3  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

Housing Committee  
 

Executive 
Director, 
Housing, 
Neighbourhoods 
& Communities 

SR24 The council is unable to provide an effective welfare support 
response to households facing financial hardship. 

4 x 3  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

3 x 3  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

Policy & Resources 
Committee  
 

Chief Finance 
Officer  

SR30 Not fulfilling the expectations of residents, businesses, 
government and the wider community that Brighton & Hove 
City Council will lead the city well and be stronger in an 
uncertain environment 

3 x 4  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

2 x 4  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

Policy & Resources 
Committee  

Chief Executive  

SR29 Procurement non-compliance and ineffective contract 
performance management leads to sub-optimal service 
outcomes, financial irregularity and losses, and reputational 
damage 

3 x 4  

 
SIGNIFICANT (AMBER) 

2 x 3  

 
MODERATE (YELLOW) 

Policy & Resources 
Committee  

Chief Finance 
Officer 

 

16 12 

16 12 

16 12 

12 9 

12 8 

12 6 

42



Brighton & Hove City Council 

 
 

Audit & Standards 
Committee 

Agenda Item 37

  

Subject: Independent External Assessment of Orbis Internal Audit 
 
Date of meeting: 24th January 2023 
 
Report of:  Executive Director, Governance, People & Resources 
 
Contact Officer: Carolyn Sheehan (Audit Manager) 
 Tel: 07795 335692 
 Email: Carolyn.Sheehan@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
 
 Russell Banks (Chief Internal Auditor) 
 Tel: 07824 362739 
 Email: Russell.Banks@eastsussex.gov.uk 
  
Ward(s) affected: All  
  
 
For general release  
 

1. Purpose of the report and policy context 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with the report and findings 

from the external review, completed by the Chartered Institute of Internal 
Auditors, on the Orbis Internal Audit service. 

 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the findings from the external review report, 

including those areas identified where opportunities for further improvement 
may exist for the future. 

 
3. Context and background information 

 
3.1 Earlier this year the Audit and Standards Committee approved the 

appointment of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) to carry out 
an independent assessment of Orbis Internal Audit against Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). These standards require such an 
assessment to be undertaken at least once every five years, with the scope 
including assessment of compliance, benchmarking against best practice 
and assessment of Internal Audit’s profile and impact within client 
organisations. 
 

3.2 The review was completed during Autumn 2022 and incorporated a full 
validation of the service’s own comprehensive self-assessment, interviews 
with key stakeholders from across all the Orbis partner councils and 
discussions with Internal Audit team members. A copy of the assessor’s full 
report is attached as Appendix 1, with the key headlines summarised below. 
 

43



 

 

3.3 It is pleasing to report that Orbis Internal Audit have been assessed as 
achieving the highest level of conformance available against professional 
standards with no areas of non-compliance identified, and therefore no 
formal recommendations for improvement arising. In summary the service 
was assessed as: 
 

 Excellent in: 
Reflection of the Standards 
Focus on performance, risk and adding value 

 Good in: 
Operating with efficiency 
Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 

 Satisfactory in: 
Coordinating and maximising assurance 
 

3.4 In order to provide some further context to this outcome, of the nineteen 
assessments carried out by the CIIA in 2021/22 (covering both public and 
private sectors) only two others were assessed as ‘Excellent’ against the 
standard. In summarising their findings, the assessor commented that Orbis 
Internal Audit: 

 
‘are an established internal audit service, highly valued by the key 
stakeholders we spoke to in this EQA review;’ 

‘team members have diverse professional backgrounds, qualifications, 
experience and skills, making them a flexible and effective service;’ 

‘can tackle a wide range of assurance and investigatory challenges and there 
is considerable ongoing investment in learning, development and upskilling;’ 

‘Key stakeholders are very confident in their competence, organisational 
knowledge, plans and reporting. Individual comments were very supportive, 
with no material areas for improvement identified’.  

3.5 As explained above, in conducting this review the assessors undertook 
interviews with a wide range of stakeholders from across the Orbis partner 
authorities and external clients, which included Chief Executives, Chief 
Officers/ Executive Directors, Chief Finance Officers and Chairs of audit 
committees. It is extremely pleasing to report that the feedback received was 
overwhelmingly positive with high degrees of customer satisfaction 
throughout. Summaries of this feedback are provided from page 14 within 
the report attached as Appendix 1. 
 

3.6 Whilst no formal recommendations in relation to the Standards were raised, 
the assessor did take the opportunity to highlight some areas which could 
support the future development of the service. These have been 
summarised in Appendix 2 to this report, along with a response and 
commentary in relation to each area. 
 

4. Analysis and consideration of alternative options  
. 

44



 

 

4.1 Not Applicable 
 
5. Community engagement and consultation 
.  
5.1 The assessment included engagement with officers and members across 

the Orbis partnership. 
 
6. Conclusion 

 
6.1 It is pleasing to report that Orbis Internal Audit have been assessed as 

achieving the highest level of conformance available against professional 
standards with no areas of non-compliance identified. 

 
7. Financial implications 

 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendation of 

this report. 
 

Name of finance officer consulted: James Hengeveld Date consulted 
(05/01/23): 

 
8. Legal implications 
 
8.1 This Committee has delegated responsibility for the audit functions of the 

Council. As a result, it is the correct body to receive the external Report 
reviewing the Service which carries out the Council’s Internal Audit 
functions, and to note the reassurance that provides about the Service’s 
performance.    

 
Name of lawyer consulted: Victoria Simpson Date consulted: 3.1.23 

 
9. Equalities implications 
 
9.1 There are no direct equalities implications 
 
10. Sustainability implications 
 
10.1 There are no sustainability implications 
 
11. Other Implications  
 

11.1 There are no other implications 
 

 
Supporting Documentation 

 
Appendices  
 

1. External Assessment Final Report (Appendix A) 
2. Orbis Internal Audit Response  

45



46



REPORT 

External Quality Assessment (EQA) 

A report for Orbis Internal Audit 

 

Prepared by John Chesshire, approved reviewer for  

The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors 
07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

Appendix A

47



 

2 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

1 Executive summary 3 

1.1 Background and Scope 3 

1.2 Key Achievements 3 

1.3 EQA Assessment Conclusion 4 

1.4 SWOT Analysis 5 

1.5 Conformance Opinion 6 

1.6 Further Improvement Opportunities 7 

1.7 Acknowledgement 7 

2 Supporting continuous improvement 8 

2.1 Internal audit matrix 9 

2.2 Further improvement opportunities 10 

3 Appendix 12 

A1 Global Grading Definitions 12 

A2 Stakeholder Interviews and feedback 13 

Contents 

48



 

3 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

1.1 Background and Scope 

 

The Orbis Partnership is a Public Sector Partnership between Surrey County Council, East Sussex County Council and Brighton and Hove 
City Council. Orbis was formed to provide high quality services to its customers and retain public sector money and expertise within the 
partnership. 
 
In April 2017, internal audit began working across East Sussex County Council, Surrey County Council and Brighton and Hove City 
Council, along with a number of external fee-paying clients. In the following year, a complete restructure took place and a fully integrated 
service was launched with effect from April 2018. At the same time, Orbis Internal Audit took over delivery of internal audit services to 
Horsham District Council. At 400 days per annum, Horsham immediately became Orbis Internal Audit’s biggest external client, with the 
arrangement also involving the TUPE transfer of three staff members.    
 
The Orbis Internal Audit headcount is now 35, with an FTE of approximately 33.5. The service is made of six teams, three sovereign 
teams focussing on each partner council, a general partnership team delivering to Horsham and across all partners, and two specialist 
teams in the areas of ICT audit and counter-fraud.   
 
The Orbis Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) reports functionally to each of the audit committees (or their equivalent) across the partnership. 
Orbis Internal Audit previously had an external quality assessment in 2018, undertaken by SWAP. We are delighted that Orbis Internal 
Audit have commissioned us to undertake this subsequent external quality assessment.  
 
Our review included a full validation of the Orbis Internal Audit team’s own comprehensive internal self assessment, interviews with key 
stakeholders across the partnership, and discussions with Orbis internal audit team members. 
 
We conducted this EQA in a hybrid format - both remotely and in-person in Autumn 2022. 
 

1.2 Key Achievements 

 

Orbis Internal Audit are an established internal audit service, highly valued by the key stakeholders we spoke to in this EQA review. 

The governance framework over the internal audit service is mature, with audit committee (or equivalent) oversight, regular meetings, 
reporting and performance monitoring.   

A very well-regarded CIA leads Orbis Internal Audit, directly supported by experienced colleagues, and with specialist teams 
undertaking ICT audits and counter-fraud work. Orbis Internal Audit team members have diverse professional backgrounds, 
qualifications, experience and skills, making them a flexible and effective service. They can tackle a wide range of assurance and 
investigatory challenges and there is considerable ongoing investment in learning, development and upskilling. The CIA has a 
budget for bringing in external, specialist expertise if required.  

Engagement with key stakeholders is regular and effective, with the CIA viewed as a respected, objective, trusted, credible and 
professional leader. 

1  

Executive 

summary 

49



 
 

4 

1  

Executive 

summary 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

The Orbis Internal Audit team undertake a range of diverse assurance engagements. These include coverage of key systems and 
processes, a number of emerging areas of risk, such as climate change, and topical aspects of governance and control.  

We received positive responses to our questions about Orbis Internal Audit from those we interviewed. Key stakeholders are very 
confident in their competence, organisational knowledge, plans and reporting. Individual comments were very supportive, with no 
material areas for improvement identified. 

Orbis Internal Audit develop and deliver annual risk-based audit plans. Key stakeholders felt engaged in the design of these. The 
CIA and their managers actively monitor team performance using their MKI audit management software, and have implemented 
appropriate engagement-level quality assurance checks, as well as cold file/ peer reviews. We believe that the team’s supporting 
operational, engagement-level procedures, documentation and associated templates are professional and fit for purpose.  

 

1.3 EQA Assessment Conclusion 

 

Orbis Internal Audit conforms with the vast majority of the Standards, as well as the Definition, Core Principles and the Code of 
Ethics, which form the mandatory elements of the PSIAS and the Institute of Internal Auditors’ International Professional Practices 
Framework (IPPF), the globally recognised standard of quality in Internal Auditing.  

To summarise, we are pleased to report that Orbis Internal Audit are excellent in their: 

• Reflection of the Standards  

• Focus on performance, risk and adding value  

We believe that Orbis Internal Audit are good in their: 

• Operating with efficiency 

• Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 

We believe that Orbis Internal Audit are satisfactory in their:  

• Coordinating and maximising assurance  

The need to consider how best to map assurance provision, as well as relying on and coordinating with other assurance providers 
remains an emerging area of internal audit practice. It depends as much on the nature and effectiveness of the other assurance 
providers as it does on internal audit, and Orbis Internal Audit are refining their approach in these areas. 

There is scope for further evolution in a few areas as summarised in Section 2.2 below.  

We are pleased to report that our overall opinion is that the internal audit team “generally conforms” to the IIA Standards (See 
Appendix A1 for our Grading definitions). 

50



 
 

5 

1  

Executive 

summary 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

1.4 SWOT Analysis 

 

Strengths 
What works well 

Weaknesses 
What could be done better 

• The CIA is experienced, respected and key stakeholders have 

confidence in their knowledge, skills and leadership 

• The Orbis IA team have a very good reputation and standing 

across the partner organisations, both with members and officers 

• The risk-based annual plans cover a number of relevant, 

emerging areas of risk and topical governance subjects  

• Orbis IA are a diverse, knowledgeable team with many different 

professional certifications and areas of specialism  

• Stakeholders value Orbis IA plans and flexibility to accommodate 

additional requests and ad hoc work 

• High investment in qualifications, learning and development 

• Well-established QAIP with cold file and peer reviews 

 

• Some engagements have a lengthy elapsed time from start to draft report  

Opportunities 
What could deliver further value 

Threats 
What could stand in your way 

• Data analytics strategy development and further ICT upskilling 

• Stakeholders would value further sharing of cross-organisational 

good practices by Orbis IA 

• Further cross-consortium reviews could add further value  

• Enhancing an appropriate approach to assurance mapping and 

potential formalising of reliance on second line teams, where 

appropriate, could improve risk-based coverage  

• Occasional CIA review of the Orbis IA structure and the overall 

partnership model to ensure it remains the best fit for adding 

value to the partners  

• Failure to retain Orbis IA staff could threaten service resilience and 

delivery, with particular succession challenges in respect of the CIA 

• Emerging risks and increasing complexity in the external environment 

could threaten Orbis IA’s ability to deliver insight and add value in 

specialist service areas 

• Ensuring Orbis IA remuneration remains competitive in a challenging 

market to ensure appropriate employee recruitment, engagement and 

retention  

• Lessened desire for the wider Orbis partnership could result in a rethink 

of how the internal audit service is delivered, and on what basis 

 

 

 

 

 

 

51



 
 

6 

1  

Executive 

summary 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

 

1.5 Conformance Opinion 

The mandatory elements of the IPPF include the Definition of Internal Auditing, Code of Ethics, Core Principles and International 

Standards. 

There are 64 fundamental principles to achieve with 118 points of recommended practice. We assess against the principles. 

It is our view that internal audit activity conforms to 61 of the 64 relevant principles. Three of the principles were not relevant to Orbis 

Internal Audit as they relate to situations that have not occurred to date.  

This is an excellent result and is summarised in the table below. 

Summary of conformance Standards 
Generally 

conforms 

Partially 

conforms 

Does not 

conform 
Not relevant Total 

Definition of IA and Code of Ethics Rules of conduct 12    12 

Purpose 1000 - 1130 8    8 

Proficiency and Due Professional 

Care (People) 
1200 - 1230 4    

4 

Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme 
1300 - 1322 6   1 

7 

Managing the Internal Audit Activity 2000 - 2130 11   1 12 

Performance and Delivery 2200 - 2600 20   1 21 

Total  61 0 0 31 64 

 

 

We have also reviewed Orbis Internal Audit’s conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and Local Government 

Application Note (LGAN). We are pleased to report that Orbis Internal Audit generally conform with both the PSIAS and LGAN.  

 
1 These relate to circumstances which prior to the external quality assessment were deemed not relevant, most obviously the Disclosure of Non-conformance and 
Engagement Disclosure of Non-conformance, which have not been necessary to date.  

52



 
 

7 

1  

Executive 

summary 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

1.6 Further Improvement Opportunities 

There is scope for further improvement and development in just a few areas as summarised below: 
 
 

Enhancing internal audit proficiency  
o Additional in-house focus on data analytics and ICT audit could help Orbis Internal Audit deliver further valuable insight as the 

partnership organisations become ever more digitalised and ICT-enabled. 
 

Internal Assessments 
o Consider revisiting the current Orbis Internal Audit Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to ensure they meet the needs of the 

service and its primary stakeholders, particularly in terms of internal audit efficiency. 
 

Planning 
o When risk management matures, consider how best to further rely on management’s view of risk, documented in risk registers, as 

a potential alternative - to maintaining a separate internal audit universe. 

 
Resource Management  

o Formalising a high-level Orbis Internal Audit ‘career pathway’ from internal auditor to audit manager, covering knowledge, skills, 
experience, qualifications and responsibilities (et al) could be useful for supporting recruitment and retention. 

o Consider establishing a team to deal with unplanned requests and ad hoc tasks, while other team members focus on delivering 
planned work, with rotation through as appropriate 

o Consider offering clients a more ‘agile’ internal audit engagement approach, where appropriate, compared to the longer, more 
methodical engagement option. 
 

Policies and Procedures 
o Including direct referencing of the IIA Standards in relevant sections of the ‘Undertaking an Audit’ document could help 

demonstrate to internal audit staff why particular activities, actions and steps are required. 
 

Coordination and Reliance 
o Further enhancing a proportionate approach to assurance mapping and potential formalising of reliance on second line teams, 

where appropriate, could improve the team’s risk-based coverage.   
 

 

1.7 Acknowledgement 

We would like to thank the Orbis Internal Audit team, for their time, assistance and support during this EQA, and all of those who took part 

in the review, for their cooperation, together with their open and honest views.  

 

 

 

53



 

8 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

 

The Chartered Institute regards conformance to the IPPF as the foundation for effective internal audit practice. However, our EQA reviews 

also seek feedback from key stakeholders and we benchmark each function against the diversity of professional practice seen on our EQA 

reviews and other interviews with chief audit executives/heads of internal audit, summarised in an internal audit maturity matrix. 

We then interpret our findings into suggestions for further development based upon the wide range of guidance published by the 

Chartered IIA.  

It is our aim to offer advice and a degree of challenge to help internal audit activities continue their journey towards best practice and 

excellence. 

In the following pages we present this advice in two formats: 

• A matrix describing the key criteria of effective internal audit, highlighting the level of maturity the internal audit team has achieved and 

the potential for further development, recognising that effective internal audit goes further than purely conformance with internal 

auditing standards. (See 2.1) 

• A series of improvement opportunities and suggestions which the internal audit team could use as a basis for an action plan. (See 2.2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2  

Supporting 

continuous 

improvement 

54



 
 

9 

2  

Supporting 

continuous 

improvement 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

2.1 Internal audit matrix 

 

  IIA Standards 
Focus on performance, 
risk and adding value. 

Coordination and 
maximising assurance 

Operating with 
efficiency 

Quality Assurance and 
Improvement 
Programme 

A
s
s

e
s

s
m

e
n

t 
le

v
e

ls
 

E
x
c

e
ll

e
n

t Outstanding reflection of 
the IIA standards, in terms 

of logic, flow and spirit. 
Generally Conforms in all 

areas. 

IA alignment to the 
organisation’s objectives 

risks and change. IA has a 

high profile, is listened to, 
and is respected for its 

assessment, advice, and 

insight. 

IA is fully independent and 
is recognised by all as a 

3rd line. The work of 
assurance providers is 

coordinated with IA 

reviewing reliability of. 

Assignments are project 
managed to time and 

budget using 

tools/techniques for 
delivery. IA reports are 

clear, concise, and 

produced promptly. 

Ongoing efforts by IA 
team to enhance quality 

through continuous 
improvement. QA&IP plan 

is shared with and 

approved by AC. 

G
o

o
d

 The IIA Standards are fully 

integrated into the 
methodology – mainly 
Generally Conforms. 

Clear links between IA 
engagement objectives to 

risks and critical success 
factors with some 

acknowledgement of the 

value-added dimension. 

Coordination is planned at 

a high level around key 
risks. IA has established 
formal relationships with 

regular review of reliability. 

Audit engagements are 
controlled and reviewed 

while in progress. 
Reporting is refined 

regularly linking opinions 

to key risks. 

Quality is regarded highly, 

includes lessons learnt, 
scorecard measures and 
customer feedback with 

results shared with AC 

S
a
ti

s
fa

c
to

ry
 Most of the IIA Standards 

are found in the 
methodology with scope to 

increase conformance 
from Partially to Generally 
Conform in some areas. 

Methodology requires the 

purpose of IA 
engagements to be linked 
to objectives and risks. IA 

provides advice and is 
involved in change, but 
criteria and role require 

clarity. 

The 3 lines model is 

regarded as important. 
Planning of coordination is 

active and IA has 

developed better working 
relationships with some 

review of reliability. 

Methodology recognises 

the need to manage 
engagement efficiency 

and timeliness, but further 

consistency is needed. 
Reports are informative 

and valued. 

Clear evidence of timely 

QA in assignments with 
learning points and 
coaching. Customer 

feedback is evident. Wider 
QA&IP may need 

formalising 

N
e
e
d

s
  

im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 

Gaps in the methodology 

with a combination of Non-
conformances and Partial 
Conformances to the IIA 

Standards. 

Some connections to the 
organisation’s objectives 

and risks but IA 
engagements are mainly 

cyclical and prone to 

change at management 
request. 

The need to coordinate 
assurance is recognised 

but progress is slow. 
Some informal 

coordination occurs but 

reviewing reliability may 
be resisted. 

Multiple guides that are 
slightly out of date and 

form a consistent and 
coherent whole. 

Engagement go beyond 

deadline and a number 
are deferred 

QC not consistently 

embedded across the 
function. QA is limited / 
late or does not address 

root causes 

P
o

o
r 

No reference to the IIA 
Standards with significant 

levels of non-
conformance.  

No relationship between 
IA engagements and the 
organisation’s objectives, 

risks, and performance. 
Many audits are ad hoc. 

IA performs its role in an 
isolated way. There is a 
feeling of audit overload 

with confusion about what 
various auditors do. 

Lack of a defined 
methodology with 

inconsistent results. 

Reports are usually late 
with little perceived value. 

No evidence of ownership 

of quality by the IA team. 

 

Note: The maturity level of the function will depend on a number of factors, including the maturity and the risk appetite of the organisation. Consequently, not all 

audit functions will aspire to being “Excellent” across the board. 

 

 

55



 
 

10 

2  

Supporting 

continuous 

improvement 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

2.2 Further improvement opportunities 

This section of the report details additional feedback and observations which, if addressed, could further strengthen the impact of internal 

audit. These observations are not conformance points but support internal audit’s ongoing evolution and development. 

These suggestions do not require a response; they will not form part of any subsequent follow up if undertaken.  

Opportunity A: Standard 1200 Proficiency and Standard 1220 Due Professional Care 

 Improvement opportunity 

1 

Additional in-house focus on data analytics and ICT audit could be useful and help Orbis Internal Audit continue to deliver valuable insight. 

 
Given the prevalence and criticality of ICT to every organisation, the CIA should continue to consider how best to develop further ICT audit 
capability. 

 
We also believe that the CIA should also consider how best to further enhance awareness and capability in the use of data analytics across the 
team to enhance the depth and breadth of assurance provided. Some leading internal audit teams have moved to a methodology position of 

having to justify why data analytics should not be employed on an engagement. The expectation is that use of data analytics is the default 
position for every engagement.  

 

Opportunity B: Standard 1311 Internal Assessments 

 Improvement opportunity 

2 

Consider revisiting the current Orbis Internal Audit Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to ensure they meet the needs of the service and its 
primary stakeholders, particularly in terms of internal audit efficiency. 

 
Orbis employ a small number of KPIs and these could usefully be reviewed to assess their ongoing value and usefulness. We have shared some 
additional guidance on KPIs as part of this EQA review. 

 

Opportunity C: Planning 

 Improvement opportunity 

3 

When risk management matures, consider how best to further rely on management’s view of risk, documented in risk registers, as a potential 
alternative - to maintaining a separate internal audit universe. 
 

Internal audit has reviewed risk management at the three sovereign teams in recent years, delivering two reasonable and one substantial 
assurance opinions. 

56



 
 

11 

2  

Supporting 

continuous 

improvement 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

 

Opportunity D: Standard 2030 Resource Management 

 Improvement opportunity 

4 

Developing an Orbis Internal Audit ‘career pathway’ from internal auditor to audit manager, covering knowledge, skills, experience, qualifications 

and responsibilities (et al) could be useful for supporting recruitment and retention. If potential, or new, recruits can see a clear, documented 
career pathway mapped out, with opportunities for progression and additional remuneration, then may foster increased engagement. 
 

Audit managers, and potentially principal auditors, could consider seeking the CMIIA designation via the Chartered by Experience route (see 
https://events.iia.org.uk/cmiia-workshops/chartered-by-experience-cbe-assessment/) 
 

Consider establishing a team to deal with unplanned requests and ad hoc work, while other team members focus on delivering planned work, 
with rotation through as appropriate. This would help ensure plan delivery is not impacted by additional requests and may help reduce the 
elapsed time from start to draft report on a proportion of the engagements. 

 
Consider offering clients a more ‘agile’ internal audit engagement approach, where appropriate, compared to the longer, more methodical 
engagement option. This alternative could help reduce elapsed engagement time and be more beneficial on some engagements. It would require 

internal audit and the client to block out calendar time to enable the engagement to be undertaken over a shorter horizon. 

 

Opportunity E: Standard 2040 Policies and Procedures 

 Improvement opportunity 

5 

Including direct referencing of the IIA Standards in relevant sections of the ‘Undertaking an Audit’ document could help demonstrate why 
particular activities, actions and steps are required. This may be of value to new team members, showing how the approach maps to the 

PSIAS/IPPF. 

 

Opportunity F: Standard 2050 Coordination and Reliance 

 Improvement opportunity 

6 

The CIA should further develop a proportionate, light-touch and value-adding approach to assurance mapping and placing reliance on the work 
of other internal assurance providers, to enhance team planning, delivery and the effectiveness of assurance provided to key stakeholders. 

 

 

 

57

https://events.iia.org.uk/cmiia-workshops/chartered-by-experience-cbe-assessment/


 
 

12 

3  

Appendix 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

 

 

A1 Global Grading Definitions 

The following rating scale has been used in this report: 

Generally 

Conforms (GC) 

The reviewer has concluded that the relevant structures, policies, and procedures of the activity, as well as the 

processes by which they are applied, comply with the requirements of the individual Standard or element of the 

Code of Ethics in all material respects. For the sections and major categories, this means that there is general 

conformance to a majority of the individual Standards or elements of the Code of Ethics, and at least partial 

conformance to the others, within the section/category. There may be significant opportunities for improvement, 

but these must not represent situations where the activity has not implemented the Standards or the Code of 

Ethics, has not applied them effectively, or has not achieved their stated objectives. As indicated above, general 

conformance does not require complete/perfect conformance, the ideal situation, successful practice, etc. 

Partially Conforms 

(PC) 

The reviewer has concluded that the activity is making good-faith efforts to comply with the requirements of the 

individual Standard or element of the Code of Ethics, section, or major category, but falls short of achieving 

some major objectives. These will usually represent significant opportunities for improvement in effectively 

applying the Standards or Code of Ethics and/or achieving their objectives. Some deficiencies may be beyond 

the control of the activity and may result in recommendations to senior management or the board of the 

organisation. 

Does Not Conform 

(DNC) 

The reviewer has concluded that the activity is not aware of, is not making good-faith efforts to comply with, or is 

failing to achieve many/all of the objectives of the individual Standard or element of the Code of Ethics, section, 

or major category. These deficiencies will usually have a significant negative impact on the activity’s 

effectiveness and its potential to add value to the organisation. They may also represent significant opportunities 

for improvement, including actions by senior management or the board. 

 

Often, the most difficult evaluation is the distinction between general and partial. It is a judgement call keeping in mind the definition of 

general conformance above. The reviewer must determine if basic conformance exists. The existence of opportunities for improvement, 

better alternatives, or other successful practices does not reduce a “generally conforms” rating. 

 

 

 

3  

Appendix 

58



 
 

13 

3  

Appendix 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

 

 

A2 Stakeholder Interviews and feedback 

We interviewed the following individuals as part of the review.  

Stakeholders 
Title /Position 

 

Philip Baker Assistant Chief Executive, ESCC 

Dominic Bradley Director of Resources, HDC 

Ian Gutsell Chief Finance Officer, ESCC 

Joanna Killian Chief Executive, SCC 

Victor Lewanski Audit Committee Vice Chair, SCC 

David Lewis Audit Committee Chair, SCC 

Nigel Manvell Chief Finance Officer, BHCC 

Ros Parker Chief Operating Officer, ESCC 

Geoff Raw Chief Executive, BHCC 

Stuart Ritchie Audit Committee Chair, HDC 

Colin Swansborough Audit Committee Chair, ESCC 

Leigh Whitehouse Executive Director of Resources, SCC 

Internal Audit Function  Title /Position 

Russell Banks Chief Internal Auditor, Orbis 

Reem Burton Principal Auditor, SCC 

Nigel Chilcott Audit Manager, ESCC (Sovereign) 

Paul Miller Audit Manager, Partnership 

 

59



 
 

14 

3  

Appendix 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

Internal Audit Function  Title /Position 

Liam Pippard Senior Auditor, ESCC 

Deb Read Auditor, SCC 

Carolyn Sheehan Audit Manager, BHCC (Sovereign) 

Mark Winton Audit Manager, IT 

 

Feedback from stakeholder interviews  

Working with the business 

“Internal audit is genuinely independent, but it listens to its stakeholders.”  

“I value internal audit’s competence and the way they work well with the other departments.”  

“They are very constructive and not perceived as a wrecking ball! They are supportive and professional but can deliver hard messages.” 

“They are very supportive, very responsive and helpful.”  

“They are very well respected in the organisation - so they get the engagement they need.”  

“I value internal audit’s competence and the way they work well with the other departments. The team are very competent, dedicated and 

loyal to the service.” 

“Russ has built a strong team and can deploy the right combination of skills to help us better manage risks.” 

“We have a grown-up relationship with internal audit and they look at the right sort of things, in the right sort of way for us.” 

Communication 

“They are good communicators at audit committee meetings.”  

“The reports are good - the team are really competent and produce very useful reports.” 

“Their presence with the audit committee is well-received, professional and their reports are very clear.”  

“Their reports are thorough and presented well. Internal audit is respected and trusted by members and senior officers.”  

“They have got reporting down to a fine art, with succinct reports that have definitely improved over the years.”  

 

60



 
 

15 

3  

Appendix 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

Internal audit plans and coverage 

“I’m always consulted on the annual audit plan and internal audit visit all the DMTs to help put the plan together.”  

“There is a very sensible audit plan, focused on the highest risks.”  

“There is sufficient flex in the plan to deal with ad hoc requests and internal audit are involved in lessons learned reviews.”  

“The internal audit plans are drawn from the strategic risk framework and our judgement and instinct.” 

“Conversations cover what topics are covered in the plan, and importantly, what is not covered too.” 

Value 

“They are good at delivering and are a very flexible and responsive service.”  

“Russ and the Orbis team have been fundamental in strengthening our corporate governance and risk management practices.” 

“The quality in their work and approach is always there. I would rate them overall as a well-performing team.”  

“My only concern is the challenge of resourcing, but they are creative and flexible in filling vacancies.”  

“I value the increased resilience that the Orbis partnership brings and the perspective and experience of different organisations, as 
well as the wider expertise to draw upon.”  

“Russ is really well regarded. He has established really good relations with senior colleagues and has positioned internal audit as a 
service that can help the organisation improve.”  

“Internal audit really are our eyes and ears on the ground.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

61



 
 

16 

3  

Appendix 

 

External Quality Assessment 

(EQA) 

A report for: 

Orbis Internal Audit 

07 November 2022 

www.iia.org.uk/eqa 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disclaimer: This review was undertaken in Autumn 2022 by John Chesshire on behalf of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors. This 

report provides management and the partnership and client Audit Committees (or equivalent) with information about Orbis Internal Audit 

as of that date. Future changes in environmental factors and actions taken to address recommendations may have an impact upon the 

operation of Internal Audit in a manner that this report cannot anticipate.  

Considerable professional judgment is involved in evaluating. Accordingly, it should be recognised that others could draw different 

conclusions. We have not re-performed the work of Internal Audit or aimed to verify their conclusions. This report is provided on the basis 

that it is for your information only and that it will not be quoted or referred to, in whole or part, without the prior written consent of the 

Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors.  

© Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors. 

62



 

 

Appendix 2 

 
The table below summarises those areas where the external assessors believe there may be 
opportunities for further development of the Orbis Internal Audit Service, along with our response 
to each.   
 
As explained in the assessors’ report, these cover additional feedback and observations only, 
which are intended to help support Orbis Internal Audit’s ongoing evolution and development. 

 

Improvement Opportunity Orbis IA Response Timescale 

Additional in-house focus on data 
analytics and ICT audit could help Orbis 
Internal Audit deliver further valuable 
insight as the partnership organisations 
become ever more digitalised and ICT-
enabled. 

This is an already ongoing area of 
development for our service with 
continued investment in ICT audit 
training and a new Data Analytics 
Audit Strategy recently finalised. 

Ongoing 

Consider revisiting the current Orbis 
Internal Audit Key Performance 
indicators (KPIs) to ensure they meet 
the needs of the service and its primary 
stakeholders, particularly in terms of 
internal audit efficiency. 

Agreed.  Important to note that the 
service already has a number of 
other measures which are not 
formally published in our committee 
reports given that they relate to 
operational service delivery. 

March 2023 

When risk management matures, 
consider how best to further rely on 
management’s view of risk, 
documented in risk registers, as 
a potential alternative - to maintaining a 
separate internal audit universe. 

As referenced, the extent to which 
Internal Audit are able rely on 
organisational risk registers in full for 
audit planning purposes depends 
entirely on the risk maturity of the 
partner organisations.  This is an 
area on ongoing development and 
improvement for all the councils.  
However, it is our view that there will 
always be a place for this 
information to be supplemented with 
other sources when planning our 
work, including our own knowledge 
and experience of the organisations. 

Ongoing 

Formalising a high-level Orbis Internal 
Audit ‘career pathway’ from internal 
auditor to audit manager, covering 
knowledge, skills, experience, 
qualifications and responsibilities (et al) 
could be useful for supporting 
recruitment and retention. 

We will look to further enhance this 
area although important to highlight 
that we have an extensive training 
and development programme 
already in place for all staff, aligned 
directly to the IIA’s own skills and 
competencies matrix.  This is 
supplemented with a significant 
increase in financial investment in 
training and development over 
recent years. 

Ongoing 

Consider establishing a team to deal 
with unplanned requests and ad hoc 
tasks, while other team members focus 
on delivering planned work, with 
rotation through as appropriate. 

This is something we have 
considered but do not believe is in 
the best interest of our clients or staff 
at this time.  One of the significant 
benefits of the way in which we 
currently work is that we allocate 

N/A 

63



 

 

Appendix 2 

Improvement Opportunity Orbis IA Response Timescale 

auditors to each activity based on 
their knowledge, skills and abilities, 
regardless of which team they work 
within.  This not only allows each 
partner to benefit from our collective 
experience but also enables all of 
our staff the opportunity to work with 
different organisations and clients. 

Consider offering clients a more ‘agile’ 
internal audit engagement approach, 
where appropriate, compared to the 
longer, more methodical engagement 
option. 

Agreed.  As part of planning and 
scoping on individual audits we will 
in future offer clients this opportunity. 

Immediate 

Including direct referencing of the IIA 
Standards in relevant sections of the 
‘Undertaking an Audit’ document could 
help demonstrate to internal audit staff 
why particular activities, actions and 
steps are required. 

Agreed. March 2023 

Further enhancing a proportionate 
approach to assurance mapping and 
potential formalising of reliance on 
second line teams, where appropriate, 
could improve the team’s risk-based 
coverage. 

Assurance mapping is something 
that ideally should be developed and 
owned by the wider organisation, 
rather than internal audit.  In the 
absence of this, we have an existing 
workstream in place to develop 
something within Orbis Internal Audit 
which will further strengthen our 
audit planning process. 

Ongoing 

 
 
 
 

64



 

Audit & Standards 
Committee 

Agenda Item 38

  

Subject: External Auditor’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 
Date of meeting: 24 January 2023 
 
Report of: Grant Thornton (External Audit) 
 
Contact Officers: Name: Nigel Manvell 
 Tel: 01273 293104 
 Email:nigel.manvell@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
 Darren Wells (Grant Thornton UK LLP) 
  Tel: 01293 554120 
 Email: Darren.J.Wells@uk.gt.com 
  
Ward(s) affected: All  
 

 
For general release  
 
 

1. Purpose of the report and policy context 
 

1.1 The external auditor’s (Grant Thornton’s) Annual Report for the year ending 
31 March 2022 reports on the council’s value for money arrangements and 
comments on financial sustainability, governance arrangements and 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use 
of its resources. The report is attached at Appendix 1. The Annual Report is 
a statutory requirement for local authorities. 

 
2. Recommendations 
       
2.1 That the Audit & Standards Committee notes the external auditor’s Annual 

(Value for Money) Report for the financial year ending 31 March 2022 
including the auditor’s recommendations and management comments. 
 

3. Context and background information 
 

3.1 The external auditor is required to consider whether the authority has put in 
place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources (securing value for money). The report reviews this 
under three categories which are financial sustainability, governance and 
improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  Appendix B (An 
Explanatory note on the recommendations) within Appendix 1 sets out three 
types of recommendations that can be made by the external auditors in this 
report which are: 
 

 Statutory written recommendations - to which the council is required 
to discuss and respond publicly to the report; 

 Key Recommendations - where significant weaknesses have been 
identified; 

 Improvement Recommendations - which are not a result of identifying 
significant weaknesses. 

65



 

 

 
3.2 For first category, the risk assessment for the council was “no risks of 

significant weakness identified”. For the second category, there is one key 
recommendation (set out on page 4 of Appendix 1) relating to ‘significant 
weaknesses’ in the council’s financial sustainability highlighting a need for 
realistic plans for replenishing reserves and financial planning focused on 
reducing reliance on one-off measures. The recommendation also suggests 
“over-programming” of savings targets to meet budget shortfalls and 
manage delivery risks. It is important to note that all local authorities are 
facing financial challenges in the current economic climate, particularly 
Unitary Authorities as they provide the full range of upper and lower tier 
services and consequently experience a wider range of risks and 
challenges. 
 

3.3 There are also improvement recommendations to which management has 
responded (relating to setting the annual capital budget and the Annual 
Governance Statement) and two prior year recommendations which require 
follow up in 2023 (whole entity workforce planning and procurement 
strategy). 
 

4. Analysis and consideration of alternative options  
 
4.1 Not applicable. 
 
5. Community engagement and consultation 

 
5.1 Not applicable. 
 
6. Conclusion 
 

6.1 This report and appendix are for noting. The auditor has made one ‘Key 
Recommendation’, regarding financial sustainability, and two improvement 
recommendations to the council. The auditor has not issued any statutory 
written recommendations. 

 
7. Financial implications 

 
7.1 There are no direct budgetary implications arising from this report. However, 

the report does identify ‘Financial Sustainability’ as a significant weakness 
and therefore it is important to consider the auditor’s findings and 
recommendations and implement any improvement recommendations 
identified by the auditor. Failure to do so within a reasonable timeframe 
could lead to further investigation by the auditor and/or the auditor may 
choose to issue a Report in the Public Interest under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. 

 
 Finance officer consulted: James Hengeveld  Date consulted: 16/01/2023 
 
8. Legal implications 
 

66



 

 

8.1 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 makes it a requirement that the 
council’s external auditors consider whether the council has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 
of resources (securing value for money). This committee has delegated 
powers for (amongst other things) providing assurance on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the work of external as well as internal audit, and is the 
appropriate body for the consideration of this report by elected members of 
the council. 

 
 Lawyer consulted: Victoria Simpson Date consulted: 16/01/2023   
 

9. Equalities implications 
 
9.1 There are none identified. 
 
10. Sustainability implications 
 
10.1 There are none identified. 

 
11. Other Implications  

 
11.1 There are none identified. 
 

 
Supporting Documentation 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1: Auditor’s Annual Report on Brighton & Hove City Council 2021-22 
 

67



68



69



Commercial in confidence

70



Commercial in confidence

71



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

72



Commercial in confidence

73



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

74



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

75



Commercial in confidence

76



Commercial in confidence

77



Commercial in confidence

78



Commercial in confidence

79



Commercial in confidence

80



Commercial in confidence

81



Commercial in confidence

82



Commercial in confidence

83



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

84



Commercial in confidence

85



Commercial in confidence

86



Commercial in confidence

•

•

87



Commercial in confidence

•

•

88



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

89



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

90



Commercial in confidence

91



Commercial in confidence

92



Commercial in confidence

93



Commercial in confidence

94



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

95



96



Commercial in confidence

97



Commercial in confidence

98



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

99



Commercial in confidence

100



101



102



Brighton & Hove City Council 

 
 
 

Audit and Standards 
Committee 

Agenda Item 39

  

Subject: Update Report regarding Members Expenses    
 
Date of meeting: 24 January 2023 
 
Report of: Executive Director Governance People & Resources 
 
Contact Officer: Name: Abraham Ghebre-Ghiorghis  
 Tel: 01273 291500 
 Email:  abraham.ghebre-ghiorghis@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
  
Ward(s) affected: All  
 

 
For general release  
 

1. Purpose of the report and policy context 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on actions taken in 

response to Committee recommendations in June 2022, having considered 
the findings of the Internal Audit investigation into claims by members under 
the Scheme for Member Allowances.  

 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That Committee note the contents of the Report. 

 
3. Context and background information 

  
3.1 Following allegations of irregularity regarding Members’ expenses claims 

raised in the press, an independent investigation by the Internal Audit function 
(part of the Orbis partnership arrangements) was commissioned. That 
investigation was overseen by a senior auditor employed by another authority 
who reviewed the Council’s records, interviewed relevant officers and 
examined the Scheme for Members’ Allowances (‘the Scheme’). The report 
was discussed by this Committee in June 2022.  

 
3.2 The investigation did not reveal any widescale failings, however the Internal 

Auditor raised concerns about the way that the Scheme had been 
procedurally administered. Their Report, and the Report of the Executive 
Director for Governance, People and Resources which accompanied it, 
highlighted a number of issues including lack of clarity in some of the rules 
and inconsistency in their application. There were considered to have been 
failures to require documentary proof in support of some claims and it was 
considered that a higher level of formality in the process should have been 
applied. 

 
 

103

mailto:abraham.ghebre-ghiorghis@brighton-hove.gov.uk
https://democracy.brighton-hove.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=10778&Ver=4


 

 

3.6  The following recommendations were agreed by the Committee: 
  

a. A review of the Scheme should be conducted to ensure that the rules 
for submitting a claim for member expenses are clear and concise. 
This should specifically include clarifying the rules relating to claiming 
childcare time for travelling. The review should ensure that any 
ambiguity regarding the rules for claiming are removed.    

 
b. A review of Section 7.2 (Member Expenses) of the Procedural 

Manual for Democratic Services should be conducted to ensure that 
there is a clear procedure for processing claims. This should include 
specifying who is responsible for verifying that duties occurred and 
who is responsible for authorising the claim. The review should also 
include what the verification requirements are, for example, 
confirming that a duty took place, the time and date of the duty, and 
that there is supporting evidence that childcare was provided. 

 
c. Claim forms for expenses should be completed in full and submitted 

within the timeframe specified by the Scheme. If a claim form is not 
completed in full, the member of staff processing the claim should 
return the form to the Member and request further information. 

 
d. A claim should only be accepted if it is made within the two-month 

timeframe specified in the Scheme. 
 

e. Supporting receipts and invoices should be provided with each claim 
form as per the Scheme. If these are not available, the claim should 
be rejected. 

 
f. All members of staff responsible for processing claims should be 

trained on the correct procedures and requirements. 
 
3.7.  The Committee agreed that the above would be implemented by the 

Executive Director for Governance, People and Resources, with the following 
additional recommendations proposed by members and agreed by the 
Committee:  

 
g. All Members should be supported with, and regularly reminded of, 

their responsibilities to submit fully completed claim forms with 
supporting documentation within the relevant timeframe.  

 
h. Democratic Services should introduce electronic claim forms to 

reduce the possibility of a claim form being misplaced  
 

i. Officers are instructed to consult with the Independent Renumeration 
Panel (IRP) regarding extending the time limit for submitting claims to 
three months 

 
3.8 The Report asked Members to note that some of the proposed 

recommendations would involve convening a meeting of the Independent 

104



 

 

Remuneration Panel to review the rules and make recommendations to full 
Council.  

 
4. Update on action taken in relation to the Recommendations in para 3  
 
4.1 A review of the Member Expenses Scheme requires that a meeting of the 

IRP be convened. A New IRP member is currently being recruited and the 
new Panel will convene to review the Scheme in June 2023. As part of the 
review, the Panel will be asked to consider extending the time limit for 
submitting claims to three months. 

 
4.2 In response not just to recommendation h) but as a means of generating a 

more evolved system which is less vulnerable to human oversight/ error, a 
new electronic system is being introduced.  On 23 September 2022, 
Democratic Services completed a process review of the administration of 
Members’ allowances with exclusive focus on expenses, following the 
recommendations made at Audit & Standards Committee on 28 June 2022. 
As part of the process review of the administration of Members’ expenses 
and to support the implementation of a new digital process of expenses 
claims, a process map has been undertaken which supported the scoping 
requirements needed to accommodate digitisation of the whole process. In 
October 2022 we engaged with the technical team to start scoping 
requirements and met in November and December 2022 to consider any 
adaptation necessary to accommodate the processing of expenses claimed 
by Members. Development work will start in January 2023 with estimated 
implementation by 31 March 2023. 

 
4.3 The process map of the administration of member expenses which has been 

developed clarifies the steps and validation requirements involved in 
processing expense claims. Roles and responsibilities of officers have been 
clearly defined, all claim forms are now verified by the Democratic Services 
Support Officer and authorised by the Head of Democratic Services. 
 

4.4 The following validation checks are conducted when an expense claim form 
is received: 

 
1. That the claim form has been completed in full and includes a full 

description, time and date of the approved duties attended.  
 
Approved duties for the purpose of payment of allowances are: 

1. Attendance at: 
a. the council or any of its committees and sub committees 
b. the bodies to which the council makes appointments or 
nominations; 
c. a meeting, the holding of which is authorised by the council 
or any of its Committees or sub committees, provided that it is 
a meeting to which councillors of at least two political groups of 
the council have been invited; 
2. Attendance at LGA and its committees or any association of 
which the council is a member; 

105



 

 

3. Any other duty approved by any Committee or officer of the 
council acting under delegated powers, for the purposes of the 
discharge of the functions of the council or its Committees or 
sub committees 

  
2. That the claim has been made within 2 months of the date on 

which the approved duty was carried out.  
 

3. That the claim amount is within the maximum rate for the 
expense type (i.e., Travelling allowance, Child/Dependent Care 
allowance) that can be reimbursed as per the Member 
Allowances Scheme 2019-23  

 
4. That the relevant receipts or supporting information 

accompany the claim. 
 

4.5 If any of the validation checks are not met, the claim is rejected and payment 
is not authorised. Full reasons are provided to the Councillor on why the 
claim has been rejected to enable them to address any of the issues raised 
and an opportunity to provide further information.  
 

4.6 Where a claim form has been submitted but has not been completed in full, 
a request for further information is sent to the Member. Assistance and 
advice is also provided on the details that are required for the claim to be 
processed. 
 

4.7 The two-month timeframe specified in the Scheme is being enforced and is 
flagged at the verification stage. A recent claim received three months after 
the approved duty was carried out was rejected as being received out of 
time, a reminder on the requirement to submit within two-months was 
provided to the Member. 
 

4.8 Checking that claims are made, with the appropriate form completed and 
relevant receipts attached is a key validation check conducted by 
Democratic Services as part of processing a claim. In the absence of this, 
the claim is rejected and a further request for information is sent to the 
Member.   
 

4.9 Training on recording, processing and validating Member expenses has 
been delivered to officers involved with administration of Member 
Allowances and Expenses. As set out above, an electronic system for 
processing claims will shortly be introduced and, in the interim, Democratic 
Services have adopted provisionally the measure of ensuring all claims 
submitted by Members from April 2022 are scanned. 
 

4.10 Claims forms are currently held and may be obtained from Democratic 
Services. The Members Shared Area on the Intranet is currently being 
updated where claims forms will shortly be available for download. As per 
the Allowances Scheme, “Members are asked not to make claims for any 
duty or function where there may be doubts as to whether it is an approved 
duty. In the case of any difficulty of interpretation, councillors should refer to 

106



 

 

the Executive Director Governance, People & Resources, or the Head of 
Democratic Services”. The Head of Democratic Services has provided 
guidance on the claim requirements to Individual Member enquiries and will 
continue to be on hand to support Members in submitting fully completed 
claim forms in compliance with all validation requirements for processing 
claims. Training will be delivered as part of the new members’ induction on 
how to make claims via the electronic system. 
 

5. Community engagement and consultation 
 
5.1 This is an internal matter in that it concerns the arrangements the Council has 

in place to administer allowances to which members are entitled to claim. 
While there is not considered to be any need for consultation or engagement 
with the public, this report is placed in the public domain in order to encourage 
public confidence that appropriate steps are being taken to make remedy the 
weaknesses which have been identified.   

 
6. Conclusion 

 
6.1  The report seeks to update the Committee on steps taken in response to 

recommendations previously agreed.  
 
7. Financial implications 

 
7.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from the report.  
 

Name of finance officer consulted: Peter Francis Date: 12/01/23 
 
8. Legal implications 
 

8.1 The proposals in the report comply with the requirements in the scheme for 
members allowances and the Members Allowances Regulations. The steps 
taken will provide greater assurance to the public and ensure proper 
administration of the scheme. 

 
Name of Legal officer consulted: Elizabeth Culbert Date: 06/01/23 

 
9. Equalities implications 
 
9.1 Although  Members are eligible to claim travel and childcare allowances if they 

come within the Scheme, the provisions regarding childcare allowances are 
likely to affect women and those with young children more than other 
Members. It is therefore important that the Scheme and the administrative 
requirements that go with it are effective and do not put disproportionate 
administrative burden on Members who need childcare carers’ allowance.  
 

10. Sustainability implications 
 
10.1 There are no sustainability implications directly arising from the report. 

  
 

107



 

 

 
Background documents 
 
None 

 
Appendices  
 
None 
 
 

108



Brighton & Hove City Council 

 
 

Audit & Standards Committee 
and Council 

Agenda Item 40

  

Subject: Annual Review of Standards-related matters, including 
Member Complaints 

 
Date of meeting: Audit & Standards Committee: 24th January 2023  

Council: 2nd February 2023 
 
Report of: Executive Director – Governance, People & Resources 
 
Contact Officer: Name: Victoria Simpson, Senior Lawyer – Corporate Law
 Tel: 01273 294687 
 Email: victoria.simpson@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
  
Ward(s) affected: All  
 
 
For general release  
 
1. Purpose of the report and policy context 
 
1.1 To provide a review of Standards-related matters, including a review of 

complaints received in during 2022 alleging that Members have breached 
the Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
Audit & Standards Committee: 

 
2.1 That this Committee note the contents of this Report and refers it to full 

Council. 
 
Full Council:  
 
2.2 That full Council note the Report.  

 
3. Context and background information 

 
3.1 Members are aware that the Council is required by the Localism Act 2011 to 

have in place arrangements for dealing with complaints against elected and 
co-opted Members. Brighton & Hove City Council reviews its arrangements 
very regularly, including its Code of Conduct for Members and related 
Procedure and guidance. It takes steps to make those arrangements 
transparent, and accessible. It also regularly publishes data on complaints 
against councillors, via the reports to this Committee. 
 

3.2 At Brighton & Hove City Council, the Audit & Standards Committee has 
delegated authority for leading in discharging the statutory requirement that 
the Council maintain and promote high standards of conduct by Members. 
This Committee receives quarterly reports on complaints against members 

109



 

 

as well as information on the training and briefings offered to assist 
Members in discharging their responsibilities in accordance with the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for members, which are underpinned by the 
Seven Principles of Public Life. 
 

3.3 This Report provides the Committee with its quarterly update on complaints 
which have recently been received in, and/or are still being considered. It 
also provides data on all the complaints received in during the 2022 
calendar year. The latter is placed alongside the data which is available for 
preceding years, as well as some of the limited data that other authorities 
make available. This is done for comparative purposes, so that members 
may better assess the overall picture at this Council.  
 

3.4 Members are asked to note the contents of the Report and to make any 
comments or suggestions they wish regarding the ongoing challenges of 
dealing with the relatively large number of complaints received in by this 
authority in a context of budgetary pressures.  
 

3.5 In accordance with this Committee’s steer, it is recommended that this 
Annual Review be referred to full Council, so that it may be considered by all 
elected Members of the Council.    

 
4. Quarterly data on recent or outstanding Member Complaints  
 

 Complaints previously reported to this Committee 
 

4.1  For ease of reference, the update on complaints previously reported on but 
still being considered are presented in a new format, in a table. This is 
attached as Appendix 1. 

 
Complaints received in since last Update 

 
4.2 No new complaints falling under this process have been received in since 

the last update. This is positive news, although it is partly attributable to the 
reduced time gap between this Committee meeting and the last one (which 
took place later than normal, on 29th November 2022).  

 
5. Annual review of Member Complaints 
 
5.1 This Report seeks to provide annual review data. It may be read alongside 

the Report on this same topic published this time last year, which gave 
details of the mitigations enacted during 2021 to deal with an increase in 
complaints.  

 
5.2 The data provided in Appendix 2 offers a flavour of the volume of complaints 

made about elected members during 2022 and the topics highlighted in 
complaints, this alongside the data that is available for recent years. It also 
provides such comparator data as is available in a context where there is no 
requirement that authorities publish member complaint data.  
  

110

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life
https://democracy.brighton-hove.gov.uk/documents/g10394/Public%20reports%20pack%2025th-Jan-2022%2016.00%20Audit%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10


 

 

5.3 The last annual review noted the increase in the volume of complaints 
during 2021. The possibility of a link with the additional pressures 
experienced by local authorities during the pandemic and the specific 
challenges of that time was mooted then.  
 

5.4 Last year (2022) saw a decrease in the overall number of complaints against 
Members of this authority as compared to the two previous years. While 
information is not made publicly available by all authorities, some 
comparators are set out at Section 6 of Appendix 2. Members of Brighton & 
Hove City Council clearly received more complaints in that period than the 
other authorities considered. 
 

5.5 Members are aware that there is no means of compelling Members to co-
operate in investigations. The Government’s response in March 2022 to the 
detailed 2019 review carried out by the Committee on Standards in Public 
Life on local government standards indicated that no further legislative 
changes are likely at this stage. Furthermore, since the passing of the 
Localism Act 2010, Standards Committees have no power to suspend a 
Member where there is a finding that the Code has been breached. The 
options are limited to censuring a Member and/or taking measures such as 
recommending training which the subject Member is free to accept or reject.  

 
5.6 The data provided in Section 5 of Appendix 2 sets out the cost of 

outsourcing two investigations. The internal costs are not recorded as the 
work is undertaken by a number of different officers, who also undertake 
other roles. 

 
5.7 Members are directed to Section 4 of Appendix 2 for data on the subject 

matter of complaints. This continues to be spread across a range of activity. 
One key common factor appears to be comments posted on social media: a 
topic which has been singled out for particular emphasis in member training 
(see para 6 below).  
 

5.8 In all of the circumstances, and in a context where Members from all of the 
Party Groups as well as Independent Members have been the subject of 
complaints, the recommendation is that this Report be put to full Council so 
it may have an overview of the ongoing trend and the steps which have 
been taken in the key areas of communication and training. 

 
6. Member Training & other steps 
 
6.1 To assist Committee in discharging its role in promoting and maintaining 

high standards of conduct by councillors, Members were consulted 
regarding their training preferences during the summer of 2021. The 
following sessions on standards related matters were offered in the last 
twelve months (in addition to the member development training run by other 
functions of the Council):    

 
I. Refresher standards sessions delivered by officers to enable Members to 

recap on all aspects of the Council’s standards arrangements (including the 
changes made to it following a root & branch review in summer 2021); 

111

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-government-response-to-the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life-report


 

 

II. Training sessions delivered by an external trainer on the use of social 
media, highlighting the challenges and opportunities for those Members who 
use social media in their roles as councillors; 

III. Training for Members of the Audit and Standards Committee only, which is 
mandatory for any member participating in a Standards Panel. 

 
6.2 Other initiatives referred to in the Appendix to the last annual Review (in 

January 2022) as having been recently taken included a root and branch 
review of the Council’s Standards arrangements, which involved updating 
the Procedure to ensure the relevance of the tests for progressing 
complaints, as well as the Guidance which aims to set expectations for 
communicating with stakeholders. Other practical steps such as joining 
Group whips into complaints about members to assist in progressing them to 
resolution where appropriate have been continued during 2022.    

 
7. Analysis & Consideration of Any Alternative Options 
 
7.1 The Council is obliged under the Localism Act to make arrangements for 

maintaining high standards of conduct among members and to make 
arrangements for the investigation of complaints. This Council’s 
arrangements are regularly reviewed. This Report draws attention to the 
wider picture without recommending specific options.  

 
8. Community engagement and consultation 
 
8.1 Recent reviews of the Council’s Standards arrangements have been carried 

out by its elected Members, assisted by officers and the Council’s 
Independent Persons, whose familiarity with process in this area has been 
helpful. The local community has not been consulted or provided input, 
although this would be an option for future reviews.  

 
9. Conclusion 
 
9.1 Members are asked to note the contents of this Report, which aims to assist 

the Council in discharging its responsibilities for overseeing that high 
standards of conduct are maintained in a way which is compliant with local 
requirements. 

 
10. Financial implications 
 
10.1 There are no additional financial implications arising from the 

recommendation in this Report. All activity referred to has been, or will be, 
met from existing budgets. 

 
Finance officer consulted: Nigel Manvell Date consulted: 12/01/23 
 
11. Legal implications 
 
11.1 These are covered in the body of the Report. 
 
Lawyer consulted: Victoria Simpson Date consulted: 05/01/2023 

112



 

 

 
12. Equalities implications 
 
12.1 There are no equalities implications arising from this Report, which reports 

on arrangements which have been developed with the need to ensure the 
Council and its members discharge their responsibilities with appropriate 
regard for equalities considerations.   

 
13. Sustainability implications 
 
13.1 No sustainability implications have been identified 
 
 
14. Other Implications 
 
14.1 No significant other implications have been identified as arising from this 

Report 
 

 
Supporting Documentation 

 
1. Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 - Complaints previously reported to this Committee 
Appendix 2 – Overview of complaints received in during 2022 
 
2. Background documents 
 

None 

113



114



 

1 
 

Appendix 1 

Complaints previously reported to this Committee (at its November 2022 meeting) 

 

Case 
No 

Date Status of 
complaint 

Comments (incl basis on which complaint has been 
determined if applicable) 

Detail re complaint topic 

A/2022 January 2022 Ongoing A decision was made to refer this complaint for formal 
investigation. A written report was prepared and 
circulated. It included a finding of one or more indicative 
breaches by the investigative officer.  
 
The Monitoring Officer decided to refer the complaint for 
a Standards Panel for determination in December 2022 
and a date for that panel is being sought.  
 
The relevant subject member has not responded to any 
communications regarding the complaint.  
 

Complaint regarding conduct on social 
media and language used when debating 
with a constituent.  

E/2022 February 2022 Ongoing A decision was made to refer this complaint for formal 
investigation. A written report was prepared and 
circulated. It included a finding of one or more indicative 
breaches by the investigative officer.  
 
The Monitoring Officer decided to refer the complaint for 
a Standards Panel for determination in December 2022 
and a date for that panel is being sought.  
 
The relevant subject member has not responded to any 
communications regarding the complaint 

Complaint regarding the member’s 
conduct when discussing a key topic on 
social media. 

J/2022 February 2022 Ongoing A decision was made to refer this complaint for formal 
investigation. A written report was prepared and 
circulated. It included a finding of one or more indicative 
breaches by the investigative officer.  
 

Complaint regarding the member’s 
conduct when discussing a key topic on 
social media. 

115



 

2 
 

The Monitoring Officer decided to refer the complaint for 
a Standards Panel for determination in December 2022 
and a date for that panel is being sought.  
 
The relevant subject member has not responded to any 
communications regarding the complaint. 
 

W/2022 October 2022 Ongoing Monitoring Officer decided that complaint was capable 
of amounting to a breach of the Code. Informal 
resolution mooted however lack of response from 
member has resulted in delay in process. 
 

Complaint alleging that the member’s 
responses on a ward matter had breached 
the Code. 

X/2022 October 2022 Ongoing Monitoring Officer decided that complaint was capable 
of amounting to a breach of the Code. Informal 
resolution mooted however lack of response from 
member has resulted in delay in process. 
 

Complaint alleging that the member’s 
responses on a ward matter (on same 
topic as in W/2022) had breached the 
Code. 

Y/2022 October 2022 Determined 
at 
preliminary 
assessment 
stage 

Insufficient evidence was considered to be available to 
support the complaint that there had been a conflict of 
interest. 

Complaint concerned representations 
made by a ward Councillor about a 
resident’s planning application. This made 
substantively the same allegation as in 
U/2022, purporting to provide additional 
evidence in support, and was determined 
on same basis.  

Z/2022 October 2022 Ongoing Remains at preliminary assessment stage and will be 
referred to in a future report. 

Complex complaint regarding a member’s 
activities in relation to a key project in their 
ward. Remains the subject of preliminary 
enquiries at the current time. 

 

116



 

3 
 

Appendix 2  

Overview of complaints received in between 1st Jan 2022 & 31st Dec 2022 alleging that members have 

breached the code of conduct  

Section one – Volume & Status of Complaints 

Table 1 - Number of complaints 

Complaints against members 
made in 2019 

Complaints against members 
made in 2020 

Complaints against members 
made in 2021 

Complaints against members made in 
2022 

13 33 36 26 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

N
o

 o
f 

co
m

p
la

in
ts

 m
ad

e 
ag

ai
n

st
 m

em
b

er
s

2019 2020 2021 2022

117



 

4 
 

Table 1.1 – Status of complaints received in during 2022 as at 1/1/23 

 

 

 

Comments:  

 20 complaints have been determined (NB this is in addition to the 11 complaints which were outstanding at end of 2021) 

 3 complaints have been formally investigated and referred to a Panel for it to determine 

 3 complaints are ongoing (ie are awaiting further progression at preliminary assessment stage) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Complaints Status

Total complaints

Closed cases

Referred to a Standards Panel following formal investigation

Ongoing

118



 

5 
 

Table 1.2 – number of complaints which remained outstanding at the end of year of receipt 

2022 6 (3 of which have been referred to a Standards Panel) 

2021  11 

 

 

 

  

119



 

6 
 

Section two – Data re subject members (ie the members who were the subject of complaints) 

Table 2.1 – Number of members complained about 

 Total 
complaints 

Total number of councillors complained about 
 

Number of councillors who received more 
than 1 complaint during 2022  

2022 26 11 7 

 

Table 2.2 – Complaints received in 2022 organised according to party Group 

Complaints against Green Group members 10 

Complaints against Labour Group members 1 

Complaints against Conservative Group members 14 

Complaints against Independent Group members 
 

1 

 

Complaints made against members  - organised 
according to party Group

Conservative Labour Green Independent

120



 

7 
 

Table 2.3 - Complainant data1 

 Complaints made by members about other members Complaints made by residents or other stakeholders* 

2022 3 23 

2021 5 31 

 

  

                                                           
1 NB complaints made about members by officers are normally dealt with under the Officer/ Member Protocol 

121



 

8 
 

Section three – Complaint processing and outcomes 

Table 3.1 - Complaints determined at preliminary assessment stage  

 Total number of complaints 
determined within relevant year 
  

Number of complaints determined at 
preliminary assessment stage because 
alleged conduct did not meet the tests 
at paras 5.5 a) or b) of the Procedure 2 
 
 

Number of complaints deemed capable 
of indicating a breach, but nonetheless 
resolved informally, pursuant to paras 
5.6 to 5.8 of the Procedure.    

2022 20 18 2 
  

 

Table 3.2 - Complaints referred for formal investigation during 2022 

 

 Total complaints referred for 
formal investigation 

Outcome  

2022 3 All three complaints have been referred to a Standards Panel for determination 
by the Monitoring Officer. At time of writing a date for a Panel is being sought 

2021 2 Both complaints were resolved in the public interest by the Monitoring Officer, 
without a Standards Panel being convened.  

 

  

                                                           
2 NB: The tests for deciding not to progress complaints to formal assessment were updated in July 2021, making it difficult to generate comparative data  

122

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/procedure-dealing-allegations-breaches-code-conduct-members#tab--5-preliminary-assessment-
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/procedure-dealing-allegations-breaches-code-conduct-members#tab--5-preliminary-assessment-


 

9 
 

Table 3.3 – Councillor failures to engage in relation to complaints made in 2022 

  

Number of complaints in which the subject member refused to engage at any point in the process prior to either 
the complaint’s determination, or its referral to a Panel for determination (whichever is appropriate)  

11 

Number of complaints where members refused to engage at some point in process 
  

1 

Note: this data does not take into account two complaints involving an elected member who (while otherwise engaging with the process) has yet to respond to 

proposals for informal resolution of their complaint.   

 

  

Overall engagment from councillors who were the subject of a 
complaint

Full engagement Partial engagment No engagement

123



 

10 
 

Section 4 - Complaint topics/ content 

Table 4.1 – Complaint topics 

Code Description of type of conduct complained about 2022 2021 

A Complaints about members’ discharge of their ward responsibilities (including by constituents) 6 14 

B Complaints about comments or conduct either at council meetings, or at meetings at which members are 
representing BHCC 

8 3 

C Complaints about conduct relating to council business or other members made outside council meetings, 
including on social media 

9 16 

D Complaints about a member’s conduct or position on an issue which is not council business or a ward matter, 
including conduct or a statement reported in the press or made on social media 

3 3 

 

 

  

124



 

11 
 

Section 5: comparator data showing outsourced costs to the Council   

 Formal investigations 
outsourced  

Cost 

2021 2 2560.04 (incl VAT)  
plus 
2337.50 (incl VAT) 
 

2022 none none 

 

Note: The three formal investigations carried out during 2022 were not outsourced, but were carried out internally. For the internally conducted 

matters, this work is carried out by a number of different internal staff such as the Monitoring Officer, Deputy Monitoring Officer, Senior Lawyer 

and Legal Support Officer – who carry out other duties alongside this work. Therefore the costs of the internal officer resource spent on 

investigations is not quantified. 

The figures provided for outsourced investigations provide only a very rough ballpark of possible costs where internal investigation is carried 

out. This is because the issues vary in terms of complexity.  

In the two cases where the investigation was outsourced, the above figure does not represent the actual resource involved in progressing the 

complaints through the process, instructing and supporting the investigation, considering informal resolution and convening and supporting a 

Panel meeting and its decision-making. 

  

125



 

12 
 

Section 6: Benchmarking against other Councils  

Note: Few authorities publish member complaints data in a detailed way. Those which do provide public data appear to attract considerably 

fewer complaints – and referrals for formal investigation - than BHCC over similar periods.   

Council  Published documents 

Bristol The annual report indicated that a total of five complaints was 
received in during the year, none of which was formally 
investigated. (One was not about a current member and three 
were determined by a decision to take no further action, while 
the fifth was resolved informally).  

(Public Pack)Agenda Document for Values and Ethics 
Sub-Committee, 27/06/2022 14:00 (bristol.gov.uk) 

Southampton No substantive Member complaints requiring investigation by the 
Monitoring Officer over the preceding year. One preliminary 
investigation, which was determined not to require a full 
investigation under the Code.  

(Public Pack)Agenda Document for Governance 
Committee, 14/11/2022 17:00 (southampton.gov.uk) 
(item 13) 

East Sussex Between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, three complaints 
were received against Members of East Sussex County Council. 
Note: They received no complaints at all in either of the two 
preceding years.   

Agenda: Standards Committee, 19/04/2022 

West Sussex Between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, four complaints were 
received against Members of West County Council.  
None were progressed beyond initial assessment stage, the 
main reason being that the behaviour complained of was ‘clearly 
not connected with the member acting or appearing to act on 
Council business’. 

(Public Pack)Agenda Document for Standards 
Committee, 27/06/2022 14:15 (moderngov.co.uk) 
 
 

Surrey While Surrey’s Audit and Governance Committee has delegated 
authority for the members’ code of conduct (and receives annual 
reports on the related topic of Council complaints), no published 
member complaints data has been identified.  

(Public Pack)Agenda Document for Audit and 
Governance Committee, 13/06/2022 10:00 
(surreycc.gov.uk) 

 

126

https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/g10302/Public%20reports%20pack%2027th-Jun-2022%2014.00%20Values%20and%20Ethics%20Sub-Committee.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/g10302/Public%20reports%20pack%2027th-Jun-2022%2014.00%20Values%20and%20Ethics%20Sub-Committee.pdf?T=10
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/g6808/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Nov-2022%2017.00%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/g6808/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Nov-2022%2017.00%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/g4755/Public%20reports%20pack%2019th-Apr-2022%2010.45%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g3154/Public%20reports%20pack%20Monday%2027-Jun-2022%2014.15%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g3154/Public%20reports%20pack%20Monday%2027-Jun-2022%2014.15%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/g8360/Public%20reports%20pack%20Monday%2013-Jun-2022%2010.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/g8360/Public%20reports%20pack%20Monday%2013-Jun-2022%2010.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/g8360/Public%20reports%20pack%20Monday%2013-Jun-2022%2010.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=10

	Agenda
	31 Minutes
	36 Formal Approval of the Risk Management Framework 2022/23
	Formal Approval of the Risk Management Framework APX. n 1
	Introduction
	What is risk and risk management?
	Risk management is part of the Performance Management Framework
	Risk management is integral to corporate governance
	What is corporate governance?
	Risk management is necessary for achieving our strategic objectives
	Risk Management is part of our Behaviour Framework

	Risk Management Approach
	Risk Management Process
	Risk Levels
	Roles & Responsibilities

	Risk Management Process
	Step 1 – Identify – Risk Description & Existing Controls
	Risk Description
	Risk Categories Checklist
	Existing Controls

	Step 2 – Assess – Current Risk Score
	Likelihood Risk Score
	Impact Risk Score

	Step 3 – Treatment – Mitigating Actions & Target Risk Score
	Risk Treatment
	Mitigating Actions
	Risk Appetite
	Target Risk Score

	Step 4 – Review and Report – Risk Register and Risk Report
	Risk Register
	Risk Reviews
	Risk Reporting


	damage that is confined to a specific location, or to a number of locations, but requires additional resources. Localised disruption to infrastructure and community services
	minor localised disruption to community services or infrastructure less than 24 hours 
	limited impact on environment with short-term or long term effects

	Formal Approval of the Risk Management Framework APX. n 2

	37 Independent External Assessment of Orbis Internal Audit
	EQA Results from External Audit Review APX. n 1
	EQA Results from External Audit Review APX. n 2

	38 External Auditor's Annual Report 2021-22
	Appendix 1: External Auditor's Annual Report 2021-22
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Executive summary
	Slide 4: Key recommendations
	Slide 5: Key recommendations
	Slide 6: Opinion on the financial statements and use of auditor's powers
	Slide 7: Financial sustainability
	Slide 8: Financial sustainability
	Slide 9: Financial sustainability
	Slide 10: Financial sustainability
	Slide 11: Financial sustainability
	Slide 12: Financial sustainability
	Slide 13: Financial sustainability
	Slide 14: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 15: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 16: Governance
	Slide 17: Governance
	Slide 18: Governance
	Slide 19: Governance
	Slide 20: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 21: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 22: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 23: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 24: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 25: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 26: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 27: Opinion on the financial statements
	Slide 28
	Slide 29: Appendix A – Responsibilities of the Council
	Slide 30: Appendix B – An explanatory note on recommendations
	Slide 31: Appendix C – Sources of evidence
	Slide 32: Appendix D - Key acronymous and abbreviations
	Slide 33


	39 Member Allowances update
	40 Annual Review of Standards-related matters, including Member Complaints
	Annual Review of Standards-related matters, including Member Complaints APX. n 1


